Documenta Math. 1

DIFFERENTIAL OPERATORS AND FAMILIES OF AUTOMORPHIC FORMS ON UNITARY GROUPS OF ARBITRARY SIGNATURE

ELLEN EISCHEN, JESSICA FINTZEN, ELENA MANTOVAN, AND ILA VARMA

ABSTRACT. In the 1970's, Serre exploited congruences between q-expansion coefficients of Eisenstein series to produce p-adic families of Eisenstein series and, in turn, p-adic zeta functions. Partly through integration with more recent machinery, including Katz's approach to p-adic differential operators, his strategy has influenced four decades of developments. Prior papers employing Katz's and Serre's ideas exploiting differential operators and congruences to produce families of automorphic forms rely crucially on q-expansions of automorphic forms.

The overarching goal of the present paper is to adapt the strategy to automorphic forms on unitary groups, which lack q-expansions when the signature is of the form (a,b), $a \neq b$. In particular, this paper completely removes the restrictions on the signature present in prior work. As intermediate steps, we achieve two key objectives. First, partly by carefully analyzing the action of the Young symmetrizer on Serre-Tate expansions, we explicitly describe the action of differential operators on the Serre-Tate expansions of automorphic forms on unitary groups of arbitrary signature. As a direct consequence, for each unitary group, we obtain congruences and families analogous to those studied by Katz and Serre. Second, via a novel lifting argument, we construct a p-adic measure taking values in the space of p-adic automorphic forms on unitary groups of any prescribed signature. We relate the values of this measure to an explicit p-adic family of Eisenstein series. One application of our results is to the recently completed construction of p-adic L-functions for unitary groups by the first named author, Harris, Li, and Skinner.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 14G35, 11G10, 11F03, 11F55, 11F60

Keywords and Phrases: p-adic automorphic forms, differential operators, Maass operators, Shimura varieties

Documenta Math.	1
DOCUMENTA MATH.	1

Contents

1	Introduction						
	1.1	Motiva	ation and context	2			
		1.1.1	Influence of a key idea of Serre about congruences	2			
		1.1.2	An inspiration for four decades of innovations and the necessity of more	3			
	1.2	This prior v	paper's main results, innovations, and connections with work	4			
		1.2.1	Three main results	4			
		1.2.2	Methods	5			
	1.3	Structure of the paper					
	1.4	Notation and conventions					
2	Background and setup						
	2.1	Unitary groups and PEL data					
	2.2	PEL moduli problem and Shimura varieties					
	2.3	Automorphic forms					
	2.4	4 Standard representation, highest weights, and Schur functors .					
		2.4.1	Highest weights of an algebraic representation of H	11			
		2.4.2	Schur functors	12			
		2.4.3	Projection onto highest weight representations	13			
	2.5	The Igusa tower over the ordinary locus					
	2.6	p-adic automorphic forms					
	2.7	Serre-	Tate theory for unitary Shimura varieties	18			
		2.7.1	Local coordinates at ordinary points	18			
		2.7.2	The t -expansion principle	19			
3	DIF	DIFFERENTIAL OPERATORS					
	3.1	The Gauss–Manin connection					
	3.2	The Kodaira–Spencer morphism					
	3.3 Definitions of differential operators			tions of differential operators	22		
		3.3.1	C^{∞} differential operators	23			
		3.3.2	p-adic differential operators on vector-valued automorphic forms	24			

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 22 (2017) 1–1000

2		E. I	Eischen, J. Fintzen, E. Mantovan, & I. Varma				
4	LOCALIZATION AT AN ORDINARY POINT 25						
	4.1	The Gauss–Manin connection					
	4.2	The Kodaira–Spencer morphism					
	4.3 The differential operators						
		4.3.1	Local description	28			
		4.3.2	Explicit description of Ξ in terms of Serre–Tate coordinates	30			
5	Mai	N RESU	LTS ON p -ADIC DIFFERENTIAL OPERATORS	31			
	5.1	p-adic differential operators of classical weights					
	5.2	$p ext{-adic}$	differential operators of p -adic weights	33			
		5.2.1	Congruences and actions of p -adic differential operators $$.	33			
		5.2.2	Polynomials ϕ_{κ}	36			
6	Pullbacks 37						
	6.1	Pullba	ck and restriction of automorphic forms	38			
		6.1.1	Pullbacks	38			
		6.1.2	Restrictions of p -adic automorphic forms	39			
	6.2	Pullba	cks and differential operators	41			
7	p-adic families of automorphic forms 44						
	7.1	Prior results on families for signature (n, n)					
	7.2	Famili	es for arbitrary signature	45			
8	8 Acknowledgements 48						
1	Inti	RODUCT	TION				
_	1111	шовоо					
1.1	l M	OTIVAT	TION AND CONTEXT				
1.1	1.1	Influe	ENCE OF A KEY IDEA OF SERRE ABOUT CONGRUENCES				
	in se	ries to	ea to exploit congruences between Fourier coefficients of Eis construct certain <i>p</i> -adic zeta-functions continues to have apact. His strategy has led to numerous developments, paration with more recent machinery. For example, his approach	e a			

seen in work on the Iwasawa Main Conjecture (e.g. in [SU14]). Emblematic of the reach of Serre's idea to interpolate Fourier coefficients of Eisenstein series,

his p-adic families of Eisenstein series also occur even in homotopy theory, as the *Witten genus*, an invariant of certain manifolds [Hop02, AHR10].

Serre's idea in [Ser73] has been employed in increasingly sophisticated settings. J. Coates and W. Sinnott extended it to construct p-adic L-functions over real quadratic fields [CS74], followed by P. Deligne and K. Ribet over totally real fields [DR80]. Developing it further, N. Katz handled CM fields K (when p splits in K), using congruences between Fourier coefficients of Eisenstein series in the space of Hilbert modular forms [Kat78]. Using Katz's Eisenstein series, H. Hida produced p-adic L-functions of families of ordinary cusp forms [Hid91], leading to A. Panchishkin's p-adic L-functions of non-ordinary families [Pan03].

The p-adic families of Eisenstein series on unitary groups of signature (n,n) in [Eis15, Eis14, Eis16] and related families of automorphic forms for arbitrary signature in Theorem 7.2.4 of this paper play a key role in the recent construction of p-adic L-functions for unitary groups [EHLS16]. (The related approach proposed in [HLS06], on which [EHLS16] elaborates, also inspired work in [Bou14, EW16, Hsi14, Liu16, Wan15].) These p-adic families also conjecturally give an analogue of the Witten genus, at least for signature (1,n) [Beh09].

1.1.2 An inspiration for four decades of innovations and the necessity of more

Most of the four decades of developments in Section 1.1.1 require increasingly sophisticated methods, even though the overarching strategy ("find a family of Eisenstein series, observe congruences, relate to an L-function") is well-established. The devil is in the details. We now highlight three ingredients from the above constructions most relevant to the details of the present work: (1) q-expansions; (2) differential operators; (3) Eisenstein series.

- (1) q-EXPANSIONS. All prior papers employing Serre's idea to exploit congruences between Eisenstein series rely crucially on the q-expansions of automorphic forms. The key goal of the present paper is to extend the aforementioned strategies to automorphic forms on unitary groups, which lack q-expansions when the signature is not (n, n). In their place, we use $Serre-Tate\ expansions$ (or t-expansions), expansions at ordinary CM points (whose structure leads to a natural choice of coordinates, $Serre-Tate\ coordinates$) and the Serre-Tate Expansion Principle [CEF⁺16, Theorem 5.14, Proposition 5.5, Corollary 5.16].
- (2) DIFFERENTIAL OPERATORS. A key innovation of Katz in [Kat78] is the construction of p-adic differential operators (generalizing the Maass–Shimura operators studied extensively by Harris and Shimura [Har81, Shi97, Shi00, Shi84]) and a description of their action on q-expansions, when p splits in the CM field. Lacking q-expansions, we compute the action of differential operators on

Serre—Tate expansions and, as a consequence, produce congruences and families of p-adic automorphic forms. Our work builds on [Eis09, Eis12, EFMV16, Kat81, Bro13] and requires careful analysis of the action of Schur functors (in particular the Young symmetrizer) on Serre—Tate expansions. (In a different direction, E. Goren and E. de Shalit recently constructed p-adic differential operators for signature (2,1) with p inert [dSG16].)

(3) EISENSTEIN SERIES. The constructions in Section 1.1.1 rely on congruences between q-expansion coefficients of Eisenstein series. For unitary groups of arbitrary signature, we compensate with explicit computation of the action of the Young symmetrizer on Serre–Tate coordinates. Also applying a novel lifting argument to the Eisenstein series on unitary groups of signature (n,n) constructed in [Eis15, Eis14] independently of Serre–Tate coordinates, we also construct explicit p-adic families for arbitrary signature.

1.2 This paper's main results, innovations, and connections with prior work

As noted above, a key accomplishment of this work is that it produces families without needing q-expansions and thus is applicable to unitary groups of all signatures. The results and techniques in this paper carry over to the automorphic forms in other papers extending Serre's strategy (i.e. Siegel modular forms, Hilbert modular forms, and modular forms) but are unnecessary in those settings (since they have q-expansions).

As a consequence of the work in the first sections of this paper, we finish the problem of constructing p-adic families sufficient for the p-adic L-functions in [EHLS16], completely eliminating conditions on signatures. We also expect our results on Serre–Tate expansions to have applications to the extension to the setting of unitary groups of the results of A. Burungale and Hida on μ -invariants [BH14].

1.2.1 Three main results

Main Results 1, 2, and 3 below rely on a careful application of a combination of arithmetic geometric, representation theoretic, and number theoretic tools. We denote by V the space of p-adic automorphic forms (global sections of a line bundle over the Igusa tower, as defined by Hida in [Hid04]) on a unitary group G.

MAIN RESULT 1 (summary of Theorem 5.2.6 and Corollary 5.2.8). For each classical or p-adic weight κ (viewed as a character) meeting mild conditions, there is a p-adic differential operator Θ^{κ} acting on V, with the property that if the weight of $f \in V$ is w, then the weight of $\Theta^{\kappa} f$ is $w \cdot \kappa$, and if $\kappa \equiv \kappa' \mod p^e$ for some e, then $\Theta^{\kappa} f \equiv \Theta^{\kappa'} f \mod p^e$. As a consequence, one can use the operators

to obtain p-adic families of forms (which are closely related to certain C^{∞} -automorphic forms, e.g. those appearing in Main Result 3).

MAIN RESULT 2 (summary of Theorem 5.1.3 and Corollary 5.2.10). While constructing and explicitly describing the action of Θ^{κ} on Serre–Tate expansions (also called t-expansions), we compute the precise polynomials (in the proof of Proposition 5.2.4) by which the coefficients in the expansion are multiplied upon applying the differential operators.

MAIN RESULT 3 (summary of Theorem 7.2.4). There is a p-adic measure taking values in V and providing an explicit family of p-adic automorphic forms closely related to the C^{∞} Eisenstein series studied by Shimura in [Shi97].

1.2.2 Methods

The construction of the differential operators builds on earlier results on p-adic differential operators in [Kat78] (for Hilbert modular forms), [Eis12, Eis16] (for unitary groups of signature (n,n) and pullbacks to products of definite unitary groups), and [Pan05] (for Siegel modular forms). Unlike in those earlier cases, though, the lack of q-expansions in the case of unitary groups not of signature (n,n) necessitates modifying the approach of those papers. Instead, we take expansions at ordinary CM points ($Serre-Tate\ expansions$) and apply the Serre-Tate Expansion Principle [CEF+16, Theorem 5.14, Proposition 5.5, Corollary 5.16]. Also, unlike earlier constructions, by employing Hida's density theorem, we extend the action of the operators to p-adic (not necessarily classical) weights.

Our ability to establish congruences among differential operators depends on appropriately choosing the p-adic integral models for the algebraic representations associated with dominant weights. In particular, our models are slightly different from those considered in the work of Hida [Hid04], and our construction relies on the theory of Schur functors and projectors. The congruences follow from a careful analysis of the action of Schur functions (and especially the generalized Young symmetrizer) and rely on the description in Main Result 2.

In Section 6, we also extend Main Results 1 and 2 to the case of pullbacks from a Shimura variety to a subvariety. While Main Results 1 and 2 focus on the description of the operators on Serre–Tate expansions, the precision with which we work out details for Serre–Tate expansions allows us also to transfer some of our results to devise a novel lifting argument (in the proof of Theorem 7.2.4) concerning only q-expansions that produces explicit families of automorphic forms, summarized in Main Result 3. (The key idea is to apply a lifting argument, together with the description of the action of the differential operators and pullbacks developed in Section 6 and in the proof of Proposition 5.2.4 to the Eisenstein series constructed in [Eis15, Eis14].) These families feed into the machinery of p-adic L-functions in [EHLS16].

Remark 1.2.1. Although there are no q-expansions in the setting of unitary groups of arbitrary signature, these operators can naturally be viewed as the incarnation of Ramanujan's operator $q\frac{d}{dq}$ in this setting. The families that can be obtained by applying such operators are broader than what can be obtained by tensoring with powers of a lift of the Hasse invariant, since our construction allows, for example, non-parallel weights.

Remark 1.2.2. It would also be beneficial to have a p-adic Fourier–Jacobi expansion principle for unitary groups of arbitrary signature (which appears to be possible to state and prove - via a lengthy, technical argument - building on recent arithmetic geometric developments, e.g. [Lan13]). This would provide an alternate but ultimately more direct route (modulo the necessity of first proving such an expansion principle) to the construction of families. On the other hand, we also expect our work with the Serre–Tate expansions themselves to be useful in other applications, e.g. an extension of Burungale and Hida's work in [BH14].

1.3 Structure of the paper

Section 2 introduces our setup and recalls key facts about unitary Shimura varieties, the Igusa tower, and p-adic and classical automorphic forms (following [CEF⁺16, Sections 2 and 3]). It also provides necessary results on t-expansions from [CEF⁺16] and an overview of Schur functors, on which our computations rely crucially.

Sections 3 and 4 give global and local descriptions, respectively, of the differential operators. In particular, Section 3 discusses differential operators of integral (classical) weights that act on the automorphic forms introduced in Section 2. Using Schur functors, we build these operators from the Gauss–Manin connection and the Kodaira–Spencer morphism. In Section 4, via a careful computation of the action of the Young symmetrizer, we describe the action of the differential operators on Serre–Tate coordinates.

In Section 5, we use the description of the action of the differential operators on t-expansions, and Hida's density theorem, to prove the operators extend to the whole space of p-adic automorphic forms. We then establish congruences among operators of congruent weights, which we interpolate to differential operators of p-adic weights on the space of p-adic automorphic forms, leading to Theorem 5.2.6 and Corollary 5.2.8 (summarized in Main Result 1 above) and Theorem 5.1.3 and Corollary 5.2.10 (summarized in Main Result 2 above).

Section 6 describes the behavior of the differential operators with respect to restriction from one unitary group to a product of two smaller unitary groups. Restrictions of p-adic automorphic forms play a crucial role in the construction of p-adic L-functions in [EHLS16].

Section 7 constructs p-adic families of automorphic forms on unitary groups of arbitrary signature, by applying a novel lifting strategy and our p-adic dif-

ferential operators to restrictions of p-adic families of Eisenstein series from [Eis15, Eis14]. Theorem 7.2.4 (summarized in Main Result 3 above) produces a p-adic measure taking values in the space of p-adic automorphic forms of arbitrary signature related to the given family of Eisenstein series. This result is in turn used in the construction of p-adic L-functions in [EHLS16].

1.4 Notation and conventions

Fix a totally real number field K^+ of degree r and an imaginary quadratic extension K_0 of \mathbb{Q} . Define K to be the compositum of K^+ and K_0 . Additionally, we will fix a positive integer n, and a rational prime p > n that splits completely in K/\mathbb{Q} . If K is an imaginary quadratic field, we put further restrictions when n = 2 (see Remark 2.3.2).

The above assumptions ensure the following:

- \bullet Our unitary group at p is a product of (restrictions of scalars of) general linear groups
- The Shimura varieties of prime-to-p level we consider have smooth integral models (with moduli interpretations) after localizing at p
- Sections of automorphic bundles on open Shimura varieties coincide with those on their compactifications, by Koecher's principle.
- The ordinary locus of the reduction modulo p is not empty
- We can p-adically interpolate our differential operators (see Proposition 5.2.4 and Theorem 5.2.6).

We now discuss some notation used throughout the paper. For any field L, we denote the ring of integers in L by \mathcal{O}_L . We use \mathbb{A} to denote the adeles over \mathbb{Q} , and we write \mathbb{A}^{∞} (resp. $\mathbb{A}^{\infty,p}$) to denote the adeles away from the archimedean places (resp. the archimedean places and p). For our CM field K, let c denote complex conjugation, i.e. the generator of $\operatorname{Gal}(K/K^+)$. We denote by Σ the set of embeddings of K^+ into $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, and we denote by Σ_K the set of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -embeddings of K. Additionally, fix a CM type of K, i.e. for each $\tau \in \Sigma$ choose exactly one K-embedding $\widetilde{\tau}$ extending τ , and abusing notation, identify the set of $\widetilde{\tau}$ with Σ . Under this identification, note that $\Sigma \cup \Sigma^c = \Sigma_K$. Additionally, fix an isomorphism $\iota_p : \mathbb{C} \xrightarrow{\sim} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, and let $\Sigma_\infty = \iota_p^{-1} \Sigma$ and $\Sigma_{K,\infty} = \iota_p^{-1} \Sigma_K$. We will often identify Σ_∞ with Σ and $\Sigma_{K,\infty}$ with Σ_K via the above isomorphism without further mentioning.

The reflex field associated to our Shimura varieties will typically be denoted by E (with subscripts to denote different reflex fields in Section 6). Additionally, define the primes above p using the decomposition of $p\mathcal{O}_K = \prod_{i=1}^r \mathfrak{P}_i \mathfrak{P}_i^c$ where $\mathfrak{p}_i = \mathfrak{P}_i \mathfrak{P}_i^c$ are the primes above p in \mathcal{O}_{K^+} .

We denote the dual of an abelian scheme A by A^{\vee} . We also denote the dual of a module M by M^{\vee} . Given schemes S and T over a scheme U, we denote the scheme $S \times_U T$ by S_T . When no confusion is likely to arise, we sometimes use the same notation for a sheaf of modules and a corresponding module (e.g. obtained by localizing at a point).

For any ring R, we denote by $M_{n\times n}(R)$ the space of $n\times n$ matrices with entries in R, and we denote by $\operatorname{Herm}_n(K)$ the space of Hermitian matrices inside $M_{n\times n}(K)$.

2 Background and setup

In this section, we recall facts about Shimura varieties, automorphic forms, and p-adic automorphic forms that will play a key role in the rest of the paper. Most of this material is covered in detail in [CEF⁺16, Sections 2.1 and 2.2]. Like in [CEF⁺16], the definitions of the PEL data and moduli problems follow [Kot92, Sections 4 and 5] and [Lan13, Sections 1.2 and 1.4].

2.1 Unitary groups and PEL data

By a *PEL datum*, we mean a tuple $(K, c, L, \langle , \rangle, h)$ consisting of

- the CM field K equipped with the involution c introduced in Section 1.4,
- an \mathcal{O}_K -lattice L, i.e. a finitely generated free \mathbb{Z} -module with an action of \mathcal{O}_K ,
- a non-degenerate Hermitian pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : L \times L \to \mathbb{Z}$ satisfying $\langle k \cdot v_1, v_2 \rangle = \langle v_1, k^c \cdot v_2 \rangle$ for all $v_1, v_2 \in L$ and $k \in \mathcal{O}_K$,
- $\bullet\,$ an $\mathbb{R}\text{-algebra}$ endomorphism

$$h: \mathbb{C} \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{O}_K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}} (L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R})$$

such that $(v_1, v_2) \mapsto \langle v_1, h(i) \cdot v_2 \rangle$ is symmetric and positive definite and such that $\langle h(z)v_1, v_2 \rangle = \langle v_1, h(\overline{z})v_2 \rangle$.

Furthermore, we require:

• $L_p := L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$ is self-dual under the alternating Hermitian pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_p$ on $L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}_p$.

Given a PEL datum $(K, c, L, \langle , \rangle, h)$, we associate algebraic groups $GU = GU(L, \langle , \rangle)$, defined over \mathbb{Z} , whose R-points (for any \mathbb{Z} -algebra R) are given by

$$GU(R) := \{ (g, \nu) \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{O}_K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R}(L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R) \times R^{\times} \mid \langle g \cdot v_1, g \cdot v_2 \rangle = \nu \langle v_1, v_2 \rangle \}$$

$$U(R) := \{ g \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathcal{O}_K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R}(L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R) \mid \langle g \cdot v_1, g \cdot v_2 \rangle = \langle v_1, v_2 \rangle \}$$

Note that ν is called the *similitude factor*. Additionally, we can define the \mathbb{R} -vector space equipped with an action of K:

$$V \coloneqq L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$$
.

The endomorphism $h_{\mathbb{C}} = h \times_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ gives rise to a decomposition $V_{\mathbb{C}} := V \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} = V_1 \oplus V_2$ (where $h(z) \times 1$ acts by z on V_1 and by \bar{z} on V_2). The reflex field E of $(V, \langle , \rangle, h)$ is the field of definition of the $GU(\mathbb{C})$ -conjugacy class of V_1 .

We have further decompositions $V_1 = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} V_{1,\tau}$ and $V_2 = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} V_{2,\tau}$ induced from the decomposition of $K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C} = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma_K} \mathbb{C}$, where only the τ -th \mathbb{C} acts nontrivially on $V_{\tau} = V_{1,\tau} \oplus V_{2,\tau}$, and it acts via the standard action on $V_{1,\tau}$ and via conjugation on $V_{2,\tau}$. The signature of (V, \langle, \rangle, h) is the tuple of pairs $(a_{+\tau}, a_{-\tau})_{\tau \in \Sigma_K}$ where $a_{+\tau} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} V_{1,\tau}$ and $a_{-\tau} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} V_{2,\tau}$ for all $\tau \in \Sigma_K$. The sum $a_{+\tau} + a_{-\tau}$ is independent of $\tau \in \Sigma_K$, and so we define

$$n := a_{+\tau} + a_{-\tau}.$$

(Note that $a_{+\tau^c} = a_{-\tau}$.) Finally, we define an algebraic group

$$H\coloneqq \prod_{\tau\in\Sigma} \operatorname{GL}_{a_{+_\tau}}\times \operatorname{GL}_{a_{-_\tau}}$$

over \mathbb{Z} . Note that $H(\mathbb{C})$ can be identified with the Levi subgroup of $U(\mathbb{C})$ that preserves the decomposition $V_{\mathbb{C}} = V_1 \oplus V_2$. Additionally, we will denote the diagonal maximal torus of H by T, and the unipotent radical of the Borel subgroup of upper triangular matrixes by N.

2.2 PEL MODULI PROBLEM AND SHIMURA VARIETIES

We now introduce the Shimura varieties associated to a given PEL datum $(K, c, L, \langle , \rangle, h)$. We will restrict our attention to the integral models (defined over $\mathcal{O}_E \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$) of such PEL-type unitary Shimura varieties that have primeto-p level structure and good reduction at p.

Let $\mathcal{U} \subset GU(\mathbb{A}^{\infty})$ be an open compact subgroup. We assume $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}^p \mathcal{U}_p$ is neat (as defined in [Lan13, Definition 1.4.1.8]) and that $\mathcal{U}_p \subset GU(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ is hyperspecial. Consider the moduli problem $(S,s) \mapsto \{(A,i,\lambda,\alpha)/\sim\}$ which assigns to every connected, locally noetherian scheme S over $\mathcal{O}_E \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ together with a geometric point s of S, the set of equivalence classes of tuples (A,i,λ,α) , where:

- A is an abelian variety over S of dimension $g := nr = n[K^+ : \mathbb{Q}],$
- $i: \mathcal{O}_{K,(p)} \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{End}(A)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ is an embedding of $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebras,
- $\lambda: A \to A^{\vee}$ is a prime-to-p polarization satisfying $\lambda \circ i(k^c) = i(k)^{\vee} \circ \lambda$ for all $k \in \mathcal{O}_K$,

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 22 (2017) 1-1000

• α is a $\pi_1(S,s)$ -invariant \mathcal{U}^p -orbit of $K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}^{p,\infty}$ -equivariant isomorphisms

$$L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{A}^{p,\infty} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V^p A$$
,

which takes the Hermitian pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on L to an $(\mathbb{A}^{p,\infty})^{\times}$ -multiple of the λ -Weil pairing $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\lambda}$ on V^pA (the Tate module away from p).

In addition, the tuple (A, i, λ, α) must satisfy Kottwitz's determinant condition:

$$\det_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{O}_K|V_1) = \det_{\mathcal{O}_S}(\mathcal{O}_K|\text{Lie}A).$$

Two tuples $(A, i, \lambda, \alpha) \sim (A', i', \lambda', \alpha')$ are equivalent if there exists a prime-to-p isogeny $A \to A'$ taking i to i', λ to a prime-to-p rational multiple of λ' and α to α' .

This moduli problem is representable by a smooth, quasi-projective scheme $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U}}$ over $\mathcal{O}_E \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$. (See [Lan13, Corollary 7.2.3.10].) If we allow \mathcal{U}^p to vary, the inverse system consisting of $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U}}$ has a natural action of $GU(\mathbb{A}^{\infty,p})$ (i.e., $g \in GU(\mathbb{A}^{\infty,p})$ acts by precomposing the level structure α with it). For any scheme S over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_E \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)})$, we put

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U},S} \coloneqq \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U}} \times_{\mathcal{O}_{E,(p)}} S.$$

When $S = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ for a ring R, we will often write $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U},R}$ instead of $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U},\operatorname{Spec}(R)}$.

We denote by $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U}}^{\mathrm{an}}$ the complex manifold of \mathbb{C} -valued points of $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U}}$ and by $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U}}(C^{\infty})$ the underlying C^{∞} -manifold. Given a sheaf \mathcal{F} on $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U}}$, we denote by $\mathcal{F}(C^{\infty})$ the sheaf on $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U}}(C^{\infty})$ obtained by tensoring \mathcal{F} with the C^{∞} -structural sheaf on $\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{U}}(C^{\infty})$. In the sequel, we fix the level \mathcal{U} and suppress it from the notation.

2.3 Automorphic forms

Let $\mathbb{W} := W(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ denote the ring of Witt vectors; note that $\operatorname{Frac}(\mathbb{W})$ contains all embeddings of $K \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, due to our assumptions on p. Let $\pi : \mathcal{A}_{\operatorname{univ}} = (A, i, \lambda, \alpha)^{\operatorname{univ}} \to \mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{W}}$ denote the universal abelian scheme. Define $\underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\operatorname{univ}}/\mathcal{M}} = \pi_* \underline{\Omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\operatorname{univ}}/\mathcal{M}}$ as the pushforward along the structure map of the sheaf of relative differentials. It is a locally free sheaf of rank nr, equipped with the structure of an $\mathcal{O}_K \otimes \mathbb{W}$ -module induced by the action of \mathcal{O}_K on $\mathcal{A}_{\operatorname{univ}}$. Hence, we obtain the decomposition:

$$\underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\text{univ}}/\mathcal{M}} = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\text{univ}}/\mathcal{M}, \tau}^{+} \oplus \underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\text{univ}}/\mathcal{M}, \tau}^{-})$$
(1)

where $\underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{univ}}/\mathcal{M},\tau}^+$ has rank $a_{\pm\tau}$ and an element $x \in \mathcal{O}_K$ acts on $\underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{univ}}/\mathcal{M},\tau}^+$ (resp. $\underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{univ}}/\mathcal{M},\tau}^-$) via $\tau(x)$ (resp. $\tau^c(x)$). We can then define $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{U}} = \mathcal{E}$ as the sheaf:

$$\mathcal{E} = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} \underline{\mathrm{Isom}}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}}} \left((\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}})^{a_{+\tau}}, \underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{univ}}/\mathcal{M}, \tau}^{+} \right) \oplus \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} \underline{\mathrm{Isom}}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}}} \left((\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}})^{a_{-\tau}}, \underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{univ}}/\mathcal{M}, \tau}^{-} \right).$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 22 (2017) 1-1000

Note there is a (left) action of H on \mathcal{E} arising from the action of $\mathrm{GL}_{a_{\pm\tau}}$ on $\underline{\mathrm{Isom}}\left(\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}}\right)^{a_{\pm\tau}},\underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{univ}}/\mathcal{M},\tau}^{\pm}\right)$ for all K-embeddings $\tau\in\Sigma$.

Consider an algebraic representation ρ of H (over \mathbb{W}) into a finite free \mathbb{W} module M_{ρ} . For any such ρ , we define the sheaf $\mathcal{E}_{\rho} = \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{U},\rho} \coloneqq \mathcal{E} \times^{\rho} M_{\rho}$, i.e. for
each open immersion Spec $R \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M}$, set $\mathcal{E}_{\rho}(R) \coloneqq (\mathcal{E}(R) \times M_{\rho} \otimes_{\mathbb{W}} R) / (\ell, m) \sim$ $(g\ell, \rho(^{t}g^{-1})m)$.

An automorphic form of weight ρ defined over a W-algebra R is a global section of the sheaf \mathcal{E}_{ρ} on \mathcal{M}_{R} .

Remark 2.3.1. Usually, automorphic forms are defined as sections on a compactification of $\mathcal{M}_{R'}$. By Koecher's principle the two definitions are equivalent, except when Σ consists only of one place τ and $(a_{+\tau}, a_{-\tau}) = (1, 1)$. For the remainder of the paper, we exclude this case.

2.4 Standard representation, highest weights, and Schur functors

We briefly recall some useful facts about H from the theory of algebraic (rational) representations of linear algebraic groups.

2.4.1 Highest weights of an algebraic representation of H

The irreducible algebraic representations of $H = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma} \operatorname{GL}_{a_{+\tau}} \times \operatorname{GL}_{a_{-\tau}}$ over any algebraically closed field of characteristic 0 (up to isomorphism) are in one-to-one correspondence with the dominant weights of its diagonal torus $T = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma} T_{a_{+\tau}} \times T_{a_{-\tau}}$.

For $1 \leq i \leq n$, let ε_i^{τ} in $X(T) := \operatorname{Hom}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}(T, \mathbb{G}_m) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(T, \mathbb{G}_m)$ be the character defined by

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_i^{\tau} : T(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) &= \prod_{\sigma \in \Sigma} T_{a_{+\sigma}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \times T_{a_{-\sigma}}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \quad \rightarrow \quad \mathbb{G}_m(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \\ \varepsilon_i^{\tau}(\operatorname{diag}(\gamma_{1,1}^{\sigma}, \dots, \gamma_{n,n}^{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \Sigma}) &= \quad \gamma_{i,i}^{\tau}. \end{split}$$

These characters form a basis of the free \mathbb{Z} -module X(T). We choose $\Delta = \{\alpha_i^{\tau} \coloneqq \varepsilon_i^{\tau} - \varepsilon_{i+1}^{\tau}\}_{\tau \in \Sigma, 1 \le i < n, i \ne a_{+\tau}}$ as a basis for the root system of H. The set of all dominant weights of T with respect to Δ is $X(T)_+ = \{\kappa \in X(T) \mid \langle \kappa, \check{\alpha} \rangle \ge 0 \ \forall \alpha \in \Delta \}$. Using the basis $\{\varepsilon_i^{\tau} : \tau \in \Sigma, 1 \le i \le n\}$ of X(T), we identify:

$$X(T)_+ \cong \big\{ \big(\kappa_1^\tau, \cdots, \kappa_n^\tau \big)_{\tau \in \Sigma} \in \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma} \mathbb{Z}^n \ : \kappa_i^\tau \geq \kappa_{i+1}^\tau \ \forall i \neq a_{+\tau} \big\},$$

where $\kappa = (\kappa^{\tau})_{\tau \in \Sigma}$ and $\kappa^{\tau} = \prod_{i} (\varepsilon_{i}^{\tau})^{\kappa_{i}^{\tau}}$. For each dominant weight κ , $\rho_{\kappa} : H_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}} \to M_{\rho}$ denotes an irreducible algebraic representation of highest weight κ . (See, for example, [Jan03, Part II. Chapter 2].)

2.4.2 Schur functors

We briefly recall the construction of Schur functors, adapted to our setting. (We refer to [FH91, Sections 4.1 and 15.3] for the usual definitions).

For κ a positive dominant weight, i.e. $\kappa = (\kappa_1^\tau, \dots, \kappa_n^\tau)_{\tau \in \Sigma} \in X(T)_+$ satisfying $\kappa_i^\tau \geq \kappa_{i+1}^\tau \geq 0$ for all $\tau \in \Sigma$ and $i \neq a_{+\tau}$, we write $d_\kappa^{\tau+} = |\kappa^{\tau+}| \coloneqq \sum_{i=1}^{a_{+\tau}} \kappa_i^\tau$, $d_\kappa^{\tau-} = |\kappa^{\tau-}| \coloneqq \sum_{i=a_{+\tau}+1}^n \kappa_i^\tau$, and regard $\kappa^{\tau+} = (\kappa_1^\tau, \dots, \kappa_{a_{+\tau}}^\tau)$ and $\kappa^{\tau-} = (\kappa_{a_{+\tau}}^\tau, \dots, \kappa_n^\tau)$ as a partition of $d_\kappa^{\tau\pm}$. When there is an integer k such that $\kappa_i^\tau = k$ for all i and τ , we denote $\underline{k} \coloneqq \kappa$.

To each $\kappa^{\tau\pm}$, there is an associated Young symmetrizer $c_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm} \in \mathbb{Z}[\mathfrak{S}_{d_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm}}]$ in the group algebra of the symmetric group $\mathfrak{S}_{d_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm}}$ on $d_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm}$ symbols. If V is any module over a ring R, we let $\mathfrak{S}_{d_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm}}$ act on the $d_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm}$ -th tensor power $V^{\otimes d_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm}}$ on the right by permuting factors. This action extends to give a right- $\mathbb{Z}[\mathfrak{S}_{d_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm}}]$ -module structure on $V^{\otimes d_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm}}$.

We define the $\kappa^{\tau\pm}$ -Schur functor on the category of R-modules

$$\mathbb{S}_{\kappa^{\tau\pm}}(V) \coloneqq V^{\otimes d_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm}} \cdot c_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm} \subset V^{\otimes d_{\kappa}^{\tau\pm}}.$$

We now assume R is a \mathbb{Z}_p -algebra or an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0. Then for each $\kappa^{\tau\pm}$, $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa^{\tau\pm}}(R^{a_{\pm\tau}})$ is an irreducible representation of $\mathrm{GL}_{a_{\pm\tau}}$ with highest weight $\kappa^{\tau\pm}$ ([FH91, Proposition 15.15 and Proposition 15.47]).

Let $V = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (V^{+,\tau} \oplus V^{-,\tau})$ be an R-module, together with such a decomposition. We define the κ -Schur functor, for κ a positive dominant weight, by

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{S}_{\kappa}\big(V\big) &:= & \boxtimes_{\tau \in \Sigma} \big(\mathbb{S}_{\kappa^{\tau+}}\big(V^{+,\tau}\big) \boxtimes \mathbb{S}_{\kappa^{\tau-}}\big(V^{-,\tau}\big)\big) \\ &= & \left(\boxtimes_{\tau \in \Sigma} \left((V^{+,\tau})^{\otimes d_{\kappa}^{\tau+}} \boxtimes (V^{-,\tau})^{\otimes d_{\kappa}^{\tau-}}\right)\right) c_{\kappa} \in V^{\otimes d_{\kappa}}, \end{split}$$

where $d_{\kappa} = \sum_{\tau \in \Sigma} (d_{\kappa}^{\tau+} + d_{\kappa}^{\tau-})$ and $c_{\kappa} = \otimes_{\tau \in \Sigma} (c_{\kappa}^{\tau+} \otimes c_{\kappa}^{\tau-})$. We call c_{κ} the generalized Young symmetrizer.

We now consider the case of non-positive dominant weight. If $\kappa^{\tau\pm}$ is a dominant weight, but $\kappa^{\tau}_{a+\tau} < 0$ we define

$$\mathbb{S}_{\kappa^{\tau_{\pm}}}(V) \coloneqq \mathbb{S}_{\kappa^{\tau_{\pm}} - (\kappa_{a_{1},\tau}^{\tau}, \cdots, \kappa_{a_{1},\tau}^{\tau})}(V) \otimes \det(V)^{\kappa_{a_{1},\tau}^{\tau}}.$$

Similarly, if $\kappa^{\tau\pm}$ is dominant, but $\kappa_n^{\tau} < 0$, we define $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa^{\tau\pm}}(V) := \mathbb{S}_{\kappa^{\tau\pm}-(\kappa_n^{\tau},\cdots,\kappa_n^{\tau})}(V) \otimes \det(V)^{\kappa_n^{\tau}}$. This allows us to extend the definition of the Schur functor \mathbb{S}_{κ} to all dominant weights κ .

Throughout this paper, for each dominant weight κ , we denote the irreducible representation $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa} \left(\bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} \left(\mathbb{Z}_{p}^{a_{+\tau}} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{p}^{a_{-\tau}} \right) \right)$ of $H_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}$ of highest weight κ by ρ_{κ} . In the following, we sometimes write $(\cdot)^{\rho_{\kappa}}$ for $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa}(\cdot)$, and also $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{U},\kappa}$ (resp. \mathcal{E}_{κ}) in place of $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{U},\rho_{\kappa}}$ (resp. $\mathcal{E}_{\rho_{\kappa}}$).

Remark 2.4.1. In [CEF⁺16] (see [CEF⁺16, Remark 3.5]) the symbol ρ_{κ} is used for the representation $\widetilde{\rho}_{\kappa} := \operatorname{Ind}_{B^{-}}^{H_{\mathbb{Z}_p}}(-\kappa)$ of $H_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ of highest weight κ , where B^{-} is the Borel subgroup containing T corresponding to lower triangular matrices in $H_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$. For each dominant weight κ , the two representations ρ_{κ} and $\widetilde{\rho}_{\kappa}$ are isomorphic over \mathbb{Q}_p , and by Frobenius reciprocity

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{H_{\mathbb{Z}_p}}(\rho_{\kappa},\widetilde{\rho}_{\kappa}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{H_{\mathbb{Z}_p}}\left(\rho_{\kappa},\operatorname{Ind}_{B^-}^{H_{\mathbb{Z}_p}}(-\kappa)\right) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{B^-}(\rho_{\kappa},\kappa) \, (\simeq \mathbb{Z}_p).$$

The isomorphism between the left and right hand side is given by composition with $\operatorname{ev}_{\kappa}$, where $\operatorname{ev}_{\kappa}$ is defined by $\operatorname{ev}_{\kappa}(f) = f(1)$ for $f \in \operatorname{Ind}_{B^{-}}^{H_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}}(-\kappa)$. In particular, a choice $\{\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa}\}$ of a \mathbb{Z}_{p} -basis of $\operatorname{Hom}_{B^{-}}(\rho_{\kappa},\kappa)$ yields an injection i_{κ} from ρ_{κ} into $\widetilde{\rho}_{\kappa}$ such that $\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} = \operatorname{ev}_{\kappa} \circ i_{\kappa}$. (Note that $\operatorname{ev}_{\kappa}$ is denoted $\ell_{\operatorname{can}}$ in $[\operatorname{CEF}^{+}16]$.)

2.4.3 Projection onto highest weight representations

We will use the material from this section to construct and study differential operators on p-adic automorphic forms. For comparison, we note that a discussion of differential operators on C^{∞} automorphic forms and the description of highest weights in that case is in [Shi00, Section 12.1] and [Shi84]; a related (but briefer) description also is available in [Shi97, Section 23]. In this section, we denote the standard representation $\bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\mathbb{Z}_p^{a_{+\tau}} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_p^{a_{-\tau}})$ of $H_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ by V.

Let $\mathfrak{B} = \cup_{\tau} \{b_{\tau,1}, \dots, b_{\tau,n}\}$ be the standard basis of V, and $\mathfrak{B}^{\vee} = \cup_{\tau} \{b_{\tau,1}^{\vee}, \dots, b_{\tau,n}^{\vee}\}$ be the corresponding dual basis. For each positive dominant weight κ , we write

$$\pi_{\kappa}: V^{\otimes d_{\kappa}} \twoheadrightarrow \rho_{\kappa}$$

for the surjection obtained from projecting onto summands and applying the generalized Young symmetrizer.

DEFINITION 2.4.2. For each positive dominant weight κ , we define $\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa}$ to be the \mathbb{Z}_p -basis of $\operatorname{Hom}_{B^-}(\rho_{\kappa},\kappa)$ such that

$$\tilde{\ell}_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} := \ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} \circ \pi_{\kappa} = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma} \prod_{i=1}^{n} (\kappa_{i}^{\tau}!)^{-1} \cdot \bigotimes_{\tau \in \Sigma} \bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} (b_{\tau,i}^{\vee})^{\otimes \kappa_{i}^{\tau}} \cdot c_{\kappa}.$$

$$\tag{2}$$

We have chosen the above normalization so that Remark 5.2.1 holds.

DEFINITION 2.4.3. A weight $\kappa = (\kappa_1^{\tau}, \cdots, \kappa_n^{\tau})_{\tau \in \Sigma}$ is called *sum-symmetric* if κ is positive dominant and $d_{\kappa}^{\tau+} = d_{\kappa}^{\tau-}$ for all $\tau \in \Sigma$, where $d_{\kappa}^{\tau+} = \sum_{i=1}^{a_{+\tau}} \kappa_i^{\tau}$ and $d_{\kappa}^{\tau-} = \sum_{i=a_{+\tau}+1}^{n} \kappa_i^{\tau}$. A representation ρ is called *sum-symmetric* if it is isomorphic to ρ_{κ} for some sum-symmetric weight κ . In this case we call $e_{\kappa} = \sum_{\tau \in \Sigma} d_{\kappa}^{\tau+} = d_{\kappa}/2$ the *depth* of κ or of the representation ρ_{κ} .

DEFINITION 2.4.4. A weight κ is called *symmetric* if κ is sum-symmetric and for all $\tau \in \Sigma$ we have

$$\kappa_i^{\tau} = \kappa_{a_{+\tau}+i}^{\tau}$$
 for all $1 \le i \le \min(a_{+\tau}, a_{-\tau})$.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 22 (2017) 1-1000

Remark 2.4.5. If κ is sum-symmetric of depth e_{κ} , then, by the Schur functor construction, the representation ρ_{κ} of $H_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ of highest weight κ is a quotient of $(\bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\mathbb{Z}_p^{a_{+\tau}} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p^{a_{-\tau}}))^{\otimes e_{\kappa}}$.

LEMMA 2.4.6. Let κ be a positive dominant weight, let κ' be a sum-symmetric weight. Then the projection $\pi_{\kappa\kappa'}: V^{\otimes d_{\kappa\kappa'}} \twoheadrightarrow \rho_{\kappa\kappa'}$ factors through the map

$$\pi_{\kappa} \otimes \pi_{\kappa'} : V^{\otimes d_{\kappa\kappa'}} \simeq V^{\otimes d_{\kappa}} \otimes V^{\otimes d_{\kappa'}} \twoheadrightarrow \rho_{\kappa} \otimes \rho_{\kappa'}.$$

Moreover, if we denote the resulting projection $\rho_{\kappa} \otimes \rho_{\kappa'} \twoheadrightarrow \rho_{\kappa\kappa'}$ by $\pi_{\kappa,\kappa'}$, then

$$\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} \otimes \ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa'} = \ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa \kappa'} \circ \pi_{\kappa, \kappa'}, \tag{3}$$

and

$$\tilde{\ell}_{\rm can}^{\kappa} \otimes \tilde{\ell}_{\rm can}^{\kappa'} = \tilde{\ell}_{\rm can}^{\kappa \kappa'}. \tag{4}$$

Proof. Recall the injection $i_{\kappa}: \rho_{\kappa} \to \widetilde{\rho}_{\kappa} = \operatorname{Ind}_{B^{-}}^{H_{\mathbb{Z}_p}}(-\kappa)$ defined in Remark 2.4.1, and note that $(i_{\kappa})_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is an isomorphism. Let $\widetilde{\pi}_{\kappa,\kappa'}: \widetilde{\rho}_{\kappa} \otimes \widetilde{\rho}_{\kappa'} \to \widetilde{\rho}_{\kappa\kappa'}$ be the projection obtained by $f \otimes f' \mapsto ff'$, and define $\pi_{\kappa,\kappa'}: \rho_{\kappa} \otimes \rho_{\kappa'} \to \rho_{\kappa\kappa'}$ to be the composition

$$(i_{\kappa\kappa'})_{\mathbb{Q}_p}^{-1} \circ \widetilde{\pi}_{\kappa,\kappa'} \circ ((i_{\kappa})_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \otimes (i_{\kappa'})_{\mathbb{Q}_p}).$$

Then we obtain after base change to \mathbb{Q}_p that

$$\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} \otimes \ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa'} = \operatorname{ev}_{\kappa} \circ i_{\kappa} \otimes \operatorname{ev}_{\kappa'} \circ i_{\kappa'} = \operatorname{ev}_{\kappa\kappa'} \circ \widetilde{\pi}_{\kappa,\kappa'} \circ \left(i_{\kappa} \otimes i_{\kappa'}\right) = \ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa\kappa'} \circ \pi_{\kappa,\kappa'}.$$

Using Equation (2) and the definition of the action of c_{κ} , we deduce that

$$\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa\kappa'}\circ\pi_{\kappa,\kappa'}\circ\left(\pi_{\kappa}\otimes\pi_{\kappa'}\right)=\ell_{\operatorname{can}}\circ\pi_{\kappa\kappa'}.$$

Thus by Frobenius reciprocity $\pi_{\kappa,\kappa'} \circ (\pi_{\kappa} \otimes \pi_{\kappa'}) = \pi_{\kappa\kappa'}$, and it only remains to check that $\pi_{\kappa,\kappa'}$ is defined over \mathbb{Z}_p . However, this follows from $\pi_{\kappa\kappa'}$ being defined over \mathbb{Z}_p and the surjectivity of $\pi_{\kappa} \otimes \pi_{\kappa'}$.

2.5 The Igusa tower over the ordinary locus

In this section, we introduce the Igusa tower as a tower of finite étale Galois covers of the ordinary locus of a Shimura variety. This construction is due to Hida in [Hid04, Section 8.1] (see also [CEF⁺16, Section 4.1]). We recall that our Shimura varieties have hyperspecial level at p and neat level away from p (and that we suppressed the level from the notation).

We fix a place P of E above p and denote the residue field of $\mathcal{O}_{E_P} \subset E_P$ by k. Abusing notation, we will still denote the base change of \mathcal{M} to \mathcal{O}_{E_P} by \mathcal{M} .

Let $\overline{\mathcal{M}}^{\operatorname{ord}}$ over k be the ordinary locus of $\overline{\mathcal{M}} = \mathcal{M} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{E_P}} k$, and $\mathcal{M}^{\operatorname{ord}}$ over \mathcal{O}_{E_P} be the ordinary locus of \mathcal{M} as defined in [Lan14, Definition 3.4.1.1]. Then

 $\overline{\mathcal{M}}^{\operatorname{ord}} = \mathcal{M}^{\operatorname{ord}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{E_P}} k$. For each $m \geq 1$, the scheme $\mathcal{M}^{\operatorname{ord}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{E_P}} \mathbb{W}/p^m \mathbb{W}$ agrees with the locus where a lift of (a sufficiently large power of) the Hasse invariant does not vanish. Since we assume p splits completely in K (which implies that p splits in the reflex field E), $\mathcal{M}^{\operatorname{ord}}$ is nonempty, in fact it is open and dense. We fix a connected component $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}$ of $\mathcal{M}^{\operatorname{ord}}_{\mathbb{W}} := \mathcal{M}^{\operatorname{ord}} \times_{\mathcal{O}_{E_P}} \mathbb{W}$. Equivalently, $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}$ is the ordinary locus of a fixed connected component \mathcal{S} of $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{W}}$.

Let $\mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ord}} := \mathcal{A}_{\operatorname{univ}/\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}}$ be the universal (ordinary) abelian variety over $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}$. Pick a W-point x of $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}$, and denote by \bar{x} the underlying $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ -point. We can identify the \mathbb{Z}_p -lattice L_p (defined in Section 2.1) with the p-adic Tate module of $\mathcal{A}_x^{\operatorname{ord}}[p^{\infty}]$. Choose such an identification $L_p \simeq T_p(\mathcal{A}_x^{\operatorname{ord}}[p^{\infty}])$, compatible with the \mathcal{O}_K -action and identifying the Hermitian pairing with the Weil pairing. Then, the kernel of the reduction map

$$T_p(\mathcal{A}_x^{\operatorname{ord}}[p^{\infty}]) \to T_p(\mathcal{A}_{\bar{x}}^{\operatorname{ord}}[p^{\infty}]^{\acute{e}t})$$

determines an \mathcal{O}_K -submodule $\mathcal{L} \subset L_p$. Using the self-duality of L_p under the Hermitian pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and its compatibility with the λ -Weil-pairing $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\lambda}$, we can identify the dual \mathcal{L}^{\vee} of \mathcal{L} with the orthogonal complement of \mathcal{L} inside L_p . Note that \mathcal{L} decomposes as

$$\mathcal{L} = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\mathcal{L}_{\tau}^{+} \oplus \mathcal{L}_{\tau}^{-}).$$

In the sequel, we write

$$\mathcal{L}^2 := \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} \mathcal{L}_{\tau}^+ \otimes \mathcal{L}_{\tau}^-. \tag{5}$$

We now introduce the *Igusa tower* over the *p*-adic completion of \mathcal{S}^{ord} . For each $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$, we write $\mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}}_m := \mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}} \times_{\mathbb{W}} \mathbb{W}/p^m \mathbb{W}$. For each $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$, consider the functor

$$\operatorname{Ig}_{n,m}:\left\{\operatorname{Schemes}/\mathcal{S}_{m}^{\operatorname{ord}}\right\} \to \left\{\operatorname{Sets}\right\}$$

that takes an $\mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{ord}}$ -scheme S to the set of \mathcal{O}_K -linear closed immersions

$$\iota_n: \mathcal{L} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_n} \mu_{p^n} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}_S[p^n],$$

where $\mathcal{A}_S \coloneqq \mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ord}} \times_{\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}} S$. This functor is represented by an $\mathcal{S}_m^{\operatorname{ord}}$ -scheme, which by abuse of notation we also denote by $\operatorname{Ig}_{n,m}$. For each $n \geq 1$, $\operatorname{Ig}_{n,m}$ is a finite étale and Galois cover of $\mathcal{S}_m^{\operatorname{ord}}$, whose Galois group is the group of \mathcal{O}_K -linear automorphisms of $\mathcal{L}/p^n\mathcal{L}$.

For each $n \geq 1$, we define the formal scheme $\operatorname{Ig}_n := \varinjlim_m \operatorname{Ig}_{n,m}$. Equivalently, we define Ig_n as the formal completion along the special fiber of the scheme representing the functor that takes a $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}$ -schemes S to the set of \mathcal{O}_K -linear closed immersions $\iota_n : \mathcal{L} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mu_{p^n} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}_S[p^n]$.

Finally, we define the *infinite Igusa tower* Ig as Ig := $\lim_{n \to \infty} Ig_n$. Recall that inverse limit of projective system of formal schemes, with affine transition maps,

exists in the category of formal schemes (see [Far08, Proposition D.4.1].) Thus, Ig exists as formal scheme, and is a pro-étale cover of the formal completion of \mathcal{S}^{ord} along its special fiber, with Galois group the group of \mathcal{O}_K -linear automorphisms of \mathcal{L} , which we identify with $H(\mathbb{Z}_p)$. For any point x_0 of the formal completion of \mathcal{S}^{ord} along its special fiber (e.g., $x_0 \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{W})$ or $\mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$), the choice of a point x of Ig lying above x_0 is equivalent to the choice of an Igusa structure of infinite level on \mathcal{A}_{x_0} , i.e. of an \mathcal{O}_K -linear closed immersion of Barsotti-Tate groups $\iota_x : \mathcal{L} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mu_{p^{\infty}} \to \mathcal{A}_{x_0}[p^{\infty}]$. In the following, we write

$$\iota: \mathcal{L} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mu_{p^{\infty}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ord}}[p^{\infty}]$$

for the universal Igusa structure of infinite level on $\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}$ over Ig.

2.6 p-adic automorphic forms

Following Hida [Hid04, Section 8.1], we define p-adic automorphic forms as global functions on the Igusa tower (see also [CEF⁺16, Section 4.2]). For all $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$, let

$$V_{n,m} \coloneqq H^0(\mathrm{Ig}_{n,m}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{Ig}_{n,m}}),$$

we write $V_{\infty,m} := \varinjlim_{n} V_{n,m}$, and $V_{\infty,\infty} := \varprojlim_{m} V_{\infty,m}$.

Note that the space $V_{\infty,\infty}$ is endowed with a left action of $H(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, $f \mapsto g \cdot f$, induced by the natural right action of $g \in H(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ on the Igusa tower.

We call $V^N := V_{\infty,\infty}^{N(\mathbb{Z}_p)}$ the space of p-adic automorphic forms.

The above definition is motivated by the existence of an embedding of the space of p-adic automorphic forms, regarded as global sections of automorphic vector bundles on \mathcal{S}^{ord} , into V^N . We briefly recall the construction ([Hid04, Section 8.1.2]) adapted to our setting.

Fix $n \ge m \ge 0$, and κ any dominant weight. Let $V_{n,m}^N[\kappa]$ denote the κ -eigenspace of the action of torus on $V_{n,m}^{N(\mathbb{Z}_p)}$. We define a map

$$\Psi_{n,m}^{\kappa}: H^0\left(\mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}\right) \to V_{n,m}^N[\kappa]$$

as follows. We regard each $f \in H^0\left(\mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_\kappa\right)$ as a function $(\underline{A}, j) \mapsto f(\underline{A}, j) \in \rho_\kappa(\mathbb{W}_m)$ on pairs (\underline{A}, j) , where $\underline{A} = \underline{\mathcal{A}}_{x_0}^{\mathrm{ord}}$ is an abelian variety associated to a point x_0 of $\mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{ord}}$, and j is a the trivialization of $\underline{\omega}_{\underline{A}} = \underline{\omega}_{\underline{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{ord}}, x_0}$. Using the canonical isomorphism

$$\underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ord}}/\mathcal{S}_{m}^{\operatorname{ord}}} \cong \mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ord}}[p^{n}]^{\acute{e}t} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{S}_{m}^{\operatorname{ord}}},$$

to each Igusa structure ι on \underline{A} we associate a trivialization j_{ι} of $\underline{\omega}_{\underline{A}}$. Finally, we define $\Psi_{n,m}(f) \in V_{n,m}^{N}[\kappa]$ as the function $(\underline{A}, \iota) \mapsto \ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa}(f(\underline{A}, j_{\iota}))$. As n, m vary, with $n \geq m$, we obtain a map

$$\Psi_{\kappa}: H^{0}\left(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}\right) \to V^{N}[\kappa],$$
(6)

where $V^N[\kappa]$ denotes the κ -eigenspace of the action of the torus on V^N . We define

$$\Psi: \bigoplus_{\kappa \in X(T)_{+}} H^{0}(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}) \to V^{N}$$
(7)

to be the linear map whose restriction to $H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa})$ is Ψ_{κ} .

Theorem 2.6.1. [Hid04, Prop. 8.2 & Thm. 8.3] The map Ψ_{κ} is injective, and after inverting p, the image of Ψ

$$\Psi\left(\bigoplus_{\substack{\kappa \in X(T)_+, \\ \kappa \text{ positive}}} H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa})\right) \left[\frac{1}{p}\right] \cap V^N$$

is p-adically dense in V^N .

Proof. Proposition 8.2 and Theorem 8.3 in [Hid04] are conditional on the assumption (given in [Hid04, Section 8.1.4]) that the following equality holds for all $\kappa \in X(T)_+$ and all integers $m \ge 1$:

$$H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa})/p^m H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}) = H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}_m, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}).$$

Here, we prove that such equations hold in our settings.

Although they have not been introduced in this paper, Lan has constructed partial toroidal and minimal compactifications $\mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}^{\text{tor}}}$ and $\mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}^{\text{min}}}$ of \mathcal{S}^{ord} (see [Lan14, Theorems 5.2.1.1 & 6.2.1.1]) as well as a canonical extension $\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^{\text{can}}$ of $\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^{\text{can}}$ to the partial toroidal compactifications (see [Lan14, Definition 8.3.3.1]). Additionally, by [Lan14, Proposition 6.3.2.4], for every $m \geq 1$, we have that $\mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}^{\min}} \times_{\mathbb{W}} \mathbb{W}/p^m \mathbb{W}$ is affine. Because the pushforwards (under a proper map by [Lan14, Proposition 5.2.3.18]) of $\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^{\text{can}}$ to $\mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}^{\min}}$ are quasi-coherent, we can conclude that

$$H^0\left(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}^{\mathrm{tor}}},\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^{\mathrm{can}}\right)/p^mH^0\left(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}^{\mathrm{tor}}},\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^{\mathrm{can}}\right)=H^0\left(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}^{\mathrm{tor}}}\times_{\mathbb{W}}\mathbb{W}/p^m\mathbb{W},\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^{\mathrm{can}}\right).$$

We could then conclude the theorem if we knew that Koecher's Principle applied. By [Lan16, Remark 10.2], the analogue of [Lan16, Theorem 2.3] holds for the partial compactifications of ordinary loci and so we deduce

$$H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}^{\mathrm{tor}}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^{\mathrm{can}}) = H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}).$$

The above statement implies that the p-adic closure of the space of integral weight p-adic automorphic forms is the space of all p-adic automorphic forms.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 22 (2017) 1–1000

2.7 Serre-Tate theory for unitary Shimura varieties

We briefly recall the main results in [CEF⁺16].

2.7.1 Local coordinates at ordinary points

For any $x_0 \in \mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{W})$, we write $\overline{x}_0 \in \mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ for its reduction modulo p, and denote by $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}_{\overline{x}_0}$ the formal completion of $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}} \times \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ at \overline{x}_0 . We also write $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}_{\overline{x}_0} = \operatorname{Spf}(\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}},x_0})$. The ring $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}},x_0}$ is a complete local ring over \mathbb{W} , with residue field $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$, and we denote by $\mathfrak{m}_{\overline{x}_0}$ its maximal ideal.

Let $A_0 = \mathcal{A}_{\overline{x}_0}^{\operatorname{ord}}$ denote the abelian variety over $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ attached to the point \overline{x}_0 , and write $T_p A_0$ for the physical Tate module of A_0 . It is a free $\mathcal{O}_K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$ -module, which decomposes as

$$T_p A_0 = \bigoplus_{i=1}^r T_{\mathfrak{P}_i} A_0 \bigoplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^r T_{\mathfrak{P}_i^c} A_0,$$

where the decomposition is induced from the identification $\mathcal{O}_K \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^r \left(\mathcal{O}_{K_{\mathfrak{P}_i}} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{K_{\mathfrak{P}_i^c}} \right)$.

THEOREM 2.7.1. ([CEF⁺16, Proposition 5.8]) Let $x_0 \in S^{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{W})$. There exists a canonical isomorphism of formal schemes

$$\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}^{\wedge}} \xrightarrow{\tilde{x}_0} \bigoplus_{i=1}^r \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_p} (T_{\mathfrak{P}_i} A_0 \otimes T_{\mathfrak{P}_i^c} A_0, \hat{\mathbb{G}}_m), \quad x \mapsto q_x.$$

In the following, we identify the space $\bigoplus_{i=1}^r \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(T_{\mathfrak{P}_i}A_0 \otimes T_{\mathfrak{P}_i^c}A_0, \hat{\mathbb{G}}_m)$ with the subspace of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(T_pA_0 \otimes T_pA_0, \hat{\mathbb{G}}_m)$ consisting of all symmetric $(\mathcal{O}_K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p, c)$ -hermitian forms, and write

$$\mathfrak{q} = q_{\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}_{\bar{x}_0}^{\wedge}}} : T_p A_0 \otimes T_p A_0 \to \hat{\mathbb{G}}_m$$
 (8)

for the universal symmetric $(\mathcal{O}_K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p, c)$ -hermitian form over $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}^{\wedge}}_{\bar{x}_0}$. This implies that \mathfrak{q} satisfies $\mathfrak{q}(Q, P) = \mathfrak{q}(P, Q)$ and $\mathfrak{q}(kQ, P) = \mathfrak{q}(Q, k^c P)$, for all $P, Q \in T_p A_0$ and $k \in \mathcal{O}_K$. In particular, for any $P \in T_{\mathfrak{P}_i} A_0$, $\mathfrak{q}(Q, P) = 0$ unless $Q \in T_{\mathfrak{P}_i^c} A_0$.

For any point $x \in Ig(\mathbb{W})$ above x_0 , we write \bar{x} for its reduction modulo p, and $\iota_{\bar{x}}$ for the Igusa structure of infinite level on $\underline{A_0}$ attached to the point \bar{x} . The map $\iota_{\bar{x}} : \mathcal{L} \otimes \mu_{p^{\infty}} \hookrightarrow A_0[p^{\infty}]$ induces an isomorphism of $\mathcal{O}_K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$ -modules

$$T_p(\iota_{\bar{x}}^{\vee}): T_p A_0 \to \mathcal{L}^{\vee}.$$
 (9)

We denote by

$$t_x: \bigoplus_{i=1}^r T_{\mathfrak{P}_i} A_0 \otimes T_{\mathfrak{P}_i^c} A_0 \stackrel{\sim}{\to} (\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee},$$

the \mathbb{Z}_p -linear isomorphism induced by the restriction of $T_p(\iota_{\bar{x}}^{\vee})^{\otimes 2}$.

PROPOSITION 2.7.2. ([CEF⁺16, Proposition 5.10]) Let $x_0 \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{W})$. Each point $x \in \text{Ig}(\mathbb{W})$ above x_0 defines an isomorphism of formal schemes $\beta_x : \mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}} \cap \widetilde{\mathbb{F}}_m \otimes \mathcal{L}^2$.

Remark 2.7.3. Let t denote the canonical formal parameter on $\hat{\mathbb{G}}_m$, we write

$$\beta_x^* : \mathbb{W}[[t]] \otimes (\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}},x_0}$$

for the isomorphism of local rings induced by β_x , where $\mathbb{W}[[t]] \otimes (\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee}$ denotes the complete ring corresponding to the formal scheme $\hat{\mathbb{G}}_m \otimes \mathcal{L}^2$. A choice of a \mathbb{Z}_p -basis \mathfrak{E} of $(\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee}$ yields the isomorphism

$$\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}}^*: \mathbb{W}[[t_l|l\in\mathfrak{E}]] \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}},x_0},$$

which satisfies the equality $\beta_x^*(t_l) = \mathfrak{q}(t_x^{-1}(l)) - 1 \in \mathfrak{m}_{\bar{x}_0}$, for all $l \in \mathfrak{E}$.

2.7.2 The t-expansion principle

Let $x \in Ig(\mathbb{W})$. Recall that since Ig is a pro-finite étale cover of $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}$, the natural projection $j: Ig \to \mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}$ induces an isomorphism between the formal completion of Ig at x and $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}^{\wedge}}_{\bar{x}_0}$, for $x_0 = j(x) \in \mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{W})$. In particular, the localization map at x induces a map $\operatorname{loc}_x: V_{\infty,\infty} \to \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}},x_0}$.

For any $f \in V^N$, the t-expansion (or Serre–Tate expansion) of f is defined as

$$f_x(t) := \beta_x^{*-1}(\operatorname{loc}_x(f)) \in W[[t]] \otimes (\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee}.$$

Recall that, for all $g \in H(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, we have $f_{x^g}(t) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes g^{-1})(g \cdot f)_x(t)$ ([CEF⁺16, Proposition 5.13]).

THEOREM 2.7.4. ([CEF+16, Theorem 5.14, Proposition 5.5, Corollary 5.16])

- 1. For any weight κ , and $f \in V^N[\kappa]$: $f_x(t) = 0$ if and only if f = 0.
- 2. For any $f \in V^N$, f = 0 if and only if $f_x(t) = 0$ for at least one CM point x in each connected component of the Igusa tower. In particular, for a choice of a CM point x, f = 0 if and only if $(g \cdot f)_x(t) = 0$ (equiv. $f_{x^g}(t) = 0$) for all $g \in T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$.
- 3. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $f, f' \in V^N$ be two p-adic automorphic forms of weight κ and κ' , respectively. Then $f \equiv f' \mod p^m$ if and only if for all $g \in T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$

$$\kappa(g)f_x(t) \equiv \kappa'(g)f_x'(t) \bmod p^m$$
.

3 Differential operators

In this section, we introduce differential operators similar to the ones in [Eis09, Eis12]. Unlike [Eis09, Eis12] (which only explicitly handles unitary groups whose signature is of the form (a_+, a_-) with $a_+ = a_-$ at each archimedean place), we place no restrictions on the signature of the unitary groups with which we work.

3.1 The Gauss–Manin connection

We briefly review key features of the Gauss–Manin connection, which was first introduced by Y. Manin in [Man58] and later extended and studied by N. Katz and T. Oda [Kat70, KO68]. A detailed summary of the Gauss–Manin connection also appears in [Eis12, Section 3.1]. Below, we mostly follow the approaches of [KO68, Section 2] and [Eis12, Section 3.1]. Throughout this section, let S be a smooth scheme over a scheme T, and let $\pi: X \to S$ be a smooth proper morphism of schemes. Define $H^q_{dR}(X/S)$ to be the relative de Rham sheaf in the complex $H^{\bullet}_{dR}(X/S)$, i.e. the quasi-coherent sheaf of graded algebras on S given by

$$H_{dR}^q(X/S) := \mathbb{R}^q \pi_* \left(\Omega_{X/S}^{\bullet}\right),$$

here $\mathbb{R}^q \pi_*$ denotes the q-th hyper-derived functor of π_* , and $\Omega_{X/S}^{\bullet}$ denotes the complex $\bigwedge^{\bullet} \Omega_{X/S}^1$ on X whose differentials are induced by the canonical Kähler differential $\mathcal{O}_{X/S} \to \Omega_{X/S}^1$. The de Rham complex $\left(\Omega_{X/T}^{\bullet}, d\right)$ admits a canonical filtration

$$\operatorname{Fil}^{i}\left(\Omega_{X/T}^{\bullet}\right) \coloneqq \operatorname{Im}\left(\pi^{*}\Omega_{S/T}^{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{X}} \Omega_{X/T}^{\bullet-i} \to \Omega_{X/T}^{\bullet}\right),$$

with associated graded objects

$$\operatorname{Gr}^{i}(\Omega_{X/T}^{\bullet}) \cong \pi^{*}\Omega_{S/T}^{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{X}} \Omega_{X/S}^{\bullet - i}$$

(this follows from the exactness of the sequence $0 \to \pi^*\Omega^1_{S/T} \to \Omega^1_{X/T} \to \Omega^1_{X/S} \to 0$ for π smooth). Using the above filtration, one obtains a spectral sequence $(E_r^{p,q})$ converging to $\mathbb{R}^q \pi_*(\Omega^{\bullet}_{X/T})$, whose first page is

$$E_1^{p,q} = \mathbb{R}^{p+q} \pi_* \left(\operatorname{Gr}^p \right) \cong \Omega^p_{S/T} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_S} H^q_{dR} \left(X/S \right)$$
 (10)

and such that the Gauss–Manin connection ∇ is the map $d_1^{0,q}: E_1^{0,q} \to E_1^{1,q}$. Using Equation (10), we regard ∇ as a map

$$\nabla: H^q_{dR}\left(X/S\right) \to H^q_{dR}\left(X/S\right) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_S} \Omega^1_{S/T}.$$

It is an integrable connection. In this paper, we shall be interested solely in the case of q=1.

3.2 The Kodaira-Spencer morphism

We now briefly review the construction of the Kodaira–Spencer morphism, focusing on the details we need for this paper. More detailed treatments than we shall need for the present paper are available in [Eis12, Section 3.2], [Lan13, Sections 2.1.6-7 & 2.3.5], and [CF90, Eis12]. Like in Section 3.1, we let S be

a smooth scheme over a scheme T, and we let $\pi:A\to S$ be a smooth proper morphism of schemes, and we require A to be an abelian scheme together with a polarization $\lambda:A\to A^\vee$. We define $\underline{\omega}_{A/S}:=\pi_*\Omega^1_{A/S}$. The Kodaira–Spencer morphism is a morphism of sheaves

$$KS : \underline{\omega}_{A/S} \otimes \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/S} \twoheadrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/T},$$

defined as follows. Consider the exact sequence

$$0 \to \underline{\omega}_{X/S} \hookrightarrow H^1_{dR}(X/S) \twoheadrightarrow H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \to 0 \tag{11}$$

obtained by taking the first hypercohomology of the exact squence $0 \to \Omega_{X/S}^{\bullet \geq 1} \to \Omega_{X/S}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{O}_X \to 0$ where we view \mathcal{O}_X as a complex concentrated in degree 0. By identifying $H^1(A, \mathcal{O}_A) \cong \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/S}^{\vee}$, we obtain:

$$0 \to \underline{\omega}_{A/S} \hookrightarrow H^1_{dR}(A/S) \twoheadrightarrow \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/S}^{\vee} \to 0. \tag{12}$$

The Kodaira-Spencer morphism KS is defined to be the composition of morphisms:

$$H^1_{dR}\left(A/S\right) \otimes \underline{\omega}_{A^\vee/S} \overset{[2]}{\longrightarrow} H^1_{dR}\left(A/S\right) \otimes \Omega^1_{S/T} \otimes \underline{\omega}_{A^\vee/S} \overset{[3]}{\longrightarrow} \underline{\omega}^\vee_{A^\vee/S} \otimes \Omega^1_{S/T} \otimes \underline{\omega}_{A^\vee/S}$$

$$\downarrow^{[1]} \downarrow^{\downarrow}$$

$$\underline{\omega}_{A/S} \otimes \underline{\omega}_{A^\vee/S} - - - - - - - - - \overset{KS}{\longrightarrow} - - - - - - - - \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/T}$$

where [1] is the canonical inclusion from (12) tensored with the identity map on $\underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/S}$, [2] is $\nabla \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/S}}$, [3] is the surjection in (12) tensored with $\mathrm{id}_{\Omega^{1}_{S/T}} \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/S}}$, and [4] is the pairing $\underline{\omega}^{\vee}_{A^{\vee}/S} \otimes \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/S} \to \mathcal{O}_{S}$ tensored with $\mathrm{id}_{\Omega^{1}_{S/T}}$.

By identifying $\underline{\omega}_{A/S}$ with $\underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/S}$ via the polarization $\lambda: A \to A^{\vee}$, we regard KS as a morphism

$$KS : \underline{\omega}_{A/S} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_S} \underline{\omega}_{A/S} \twoheadrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/T}. \tag{13}$$

We now assume S is a scheme equipped with an étale morphism $S \to \mathcal{S}_T^{\mathrm{ord}}$ where T is a scheme over \mathbb{W} . We write A for the corresponding abelian scheme over S; the action of \mathcal{O}_K on A induces a decomposition

$$\underline{\omega}_{A/S} = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\underline{\omega}_{A/S,\tau}^+ \oplus \underline{\omega}_{A/S,\tau}^-)$$
 (14)

defined as in (1). In the following, we write

$$\underline{\underline{\omega}_{A/S}^2} := \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} \left(\underline{\underline{\omega}_{A/S,\tau}^+} \otimes \underline{\underline{\omega}_{A/S,\tau}^-} \right). \tag{15}$$

In [Lan13, Lan14], Lan gives an equivalent definition for $\underline{\omega}_{A/S}$ as $e^*\Omega^1_{A/S}$, the pullback via the identity section of the sheaf of relative differentials on A.

PROPOSITION 3.2.1. ([Lan14, Proposition 3.4.3.3]) For any étale morphism $S \to \mathcal{S}_T^{\mathrm{ord}}$ over T, KS induces an isomorphism

$$ks : \underline{\omega}_{A/S}^2 \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \Omega_{S/T}^1. \tag{16}$$

3.3 Definitions of differential operators

We now define differential operators. The construction is the same as the one in [Eis12, Sections 7-9], which follows the construction in [Kat78, Chapter II]. Unlike in [Eis09, Eis12], we place no conditions on the signature of the unitary groups with which we work; but the construction is identical. The place the generalization of the signature is apparent is in the explicit description of the operators in terms of coordinates in Section 5.1.

Let A, S, and T/\mathbb{W} be as in Proposition 3.2.1. We identify $\Omega^1_{S/T}$ with $\bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} \left(\underline{\omega}_{A/S,\tau}^+ \otimes \underline{\omega}_{A/S,\tau}^- \right)$ via the isomorphism (16), and $\bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} \left(\underline{\omega}_{A/S,\tau}^+ \otimes \underline{\omega}_{A/S,\tau}^- \right)$ with its image in $H^1_{dR} \left(A/S \right)^{\otimes 2}$ via the inclusion (11). Applying Leibniz's rule (i.e. the product rule) together with the Gauss–Manin connection ∇ , we obtain an operator

$$\nabla_{\otimes d}: H^1_{dR}(A/S)^{\otimes d} \to H^1_{dR}(A/S)^{\otimes (d+2)}$$

for all positive integers d.

The $\mathcal{O}_K \otimes \mathbb{W}$ -structure on A induces a decomposition

$$H_{dR}^{1}\left(A/S\right)=\bigoplus\nolimits_{\tau\in\Sigma}\left(H_{dR}^{+,\tau}\left(A/S\right)\oplus H_{dR}^{-,\tau}\left(A/S\right)\right),$$

such that $\underline{\omega}_{A/S,\tau}^{\pm} \subset H_{dR}^{\pm,\tau}\left(A/S\right)$ and $\nabla\left(H_{dR}^{\pm,\tau}\left(A/S\right)\right) \subseteq H_{dR}^{\pm,\tau}\left(A/S\right) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_S} \Omega_{S/T}^1$, for all $\tau \in \Sigma$ ([Eis12, Equations (3.3)-(3.4)]). Thus, the image of $\nabla_{\otimes d}$ is contained in $H_{dR}^1\left(A/S\right)^{\otimes d} \otimes \left(\bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} \left(H_{dR}^{+,\tau}\left(A/S\right) \otimes H_{dR}^{-,\tau}\left(A/S\right)\right)\right)$.

For all positive integers d and e, we define $\nabla^e_{\otimes d} := \nabla_{\otimes (d+2(e-1))} \circ \nabla_{\otimes (d+2(e-2))} \circ \cdots \circ \nabla_{\otimes d}$,

$$\nabla_{\otimes d}^{e}:H_{dR}^{1}\left(A/S\right)^{\otimes d}\rightarrow H_{dR}^{1}\left(A/S\right)^{\otimes d}\otimes\left(\bigoplus_{\tau\in\Sigma}\left(H_{dR}^{+,\tau}\left(A/S\right)\otimes H_{dR}^{-,\tau}\left(A/S\right)\right)\right)^{\otimes e}.$$

PROPOSITION 3.3.1. For each positive integer e and each positive dominant weight κ , the map $\nabla_{\otimes_d}^e$ where $d = d_{\kappa}$ induces a map

$$\nabla_{\kappa}^{e}: \mathbb{S}_{\kappa}\left(H_{dR}^{1}\left(A/S\right)\right) \to \mathbb{S}_{\kappa}\left(H_{dR}^{1}\left(A/S\right)\right) \otimes \left(\bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} \left(H_{dR}^{+,\tau}\left(A/S\right) \otimes H_{dR}^{-,\tau}\left(A/S\right)\right)\right)^{\otimes e}.$$

Proof. Note that by definition the operator $\nabla_{\otimes d}$ is equivariant for the action of \mathfrak{S}_d (where we consider the natural action on the d-th tensor power and the action on the d+2-th tensor power induced by the standard inclusion $\mathfrak{S}_d \to \mathfrak{S}_{d+2}$). I.e.,

$$\nabla_{\otimes d}((\cdot)\sigma) = (\nabla_{\otimes d}(\cdot))\sigma$$
 for all $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_d$,

for all positive integers d. It follows from the definition that the same holds for the operators $\nabla^e_{\otimes d}$ for all positive integers d and e. Thus, in particular

$$\nabla_{\otimes_d}^e(f\cdot c_\kappa) = (\nabla_{\otimes d}^e f)\cdot c_\kappa,$$

for all $f \in H^1_{dR}(A/S)^{\otimes d}$, and c_{κ} the generalized Young symmetrizer of κ .

For a locally free sheaf of modules \mathcal{F} , we sometimes write $(\mathcal{F})^{\rho}$ (resp. ∇_{ρ}^{e}) in place $\mathbb{S}_{\kappa}(\mathcal{F})$ (resp. ∇_{κ}^{e}), for $\rho = \rho_{\kappa}$ the irreducible representation with highest weight κ .

Note that $\nabla_{\rho} := \nabla_{\rho}^{1}$ decomposes a sum over $\tau \in \Sigma$ of maps

$$\nabla_{\rho}(\tau):\left(H_{dR}^{1}\left(A/S\right)\right)^{\rho}\rightarrow\left(H_{dR}^{1}\left(A/S\right)\right)^{\rho}\otimes\left(H_{dR}^{+,\tau}\left(A/S\right)\otimes H_{dR}^{-,\tau}\left(A/S\right)\right).$$

For each nonnegative integer e, we define $\nabla_{\rho}^{e}(\tau)$ to be the composition of $\nabla(\tau)$ with itself e times (taking into account that the subscript changes with each iteration).

3.3.1 C^{∞} differential operators

The construction of the C^{∞} differential operators in this section is similar to the one in [Kat78, Section 2.3] and [Eis12, Section 8]. As explained in [Eis12, Section 8.3], these differential operators are the Maass–Shimura operators discussed in [Shi00, Section 12]. (The explanation in [Eis12] immediately extends to all signatures.)

Let $H^1_{dR}(C^{\infty}) := H^1_{dR}(\mathcal{A}_{\text{univ}}/\mathcal{M})(C^{\infty})$, and $\underline{\omega}(C^{\infty}) := \underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}_{\text{univ}}/\mathcal{M}}(C^{\infty})$. By Equation (14), we have a decomposition

$$\underline{\omega}(C^{\infty}) = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\underline{\omega}_{\tau}^{+}(C^{\infty}) \oplus \underline{\omega}_{\tau}^{-}(C^{\infty}))$$
(17)

and similarly for $H^1_{dR}(C^{\infty})$.

The Hodge decomposition $H^1_{dR}(C^{\infty}) = \underline{\omega}(C^{\infty}) \oplus \overline{\omega(C^{\infty})}$ over $\mathcal{M}(C^{\infty})$ (following the convention in [Kat78, Section 1.8], the bar denotes complex conjugation) induces decompositions

$$H_{dR}^{\pm,\tau}\left(C^{\infty}\right) = \underline{\omega}_{\tau}^{\pm}\left(C^{\infty}\right) \oplus \underline{\underline{\omega}_{\tau}^{\pm}\left(C^{\infty}\right)},$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 22 (2017) 1-1000

for all $\tau \in \Sigma$, and the associated projections $H_{dR}^{\pm,\tau}(C^{\infty}) \twoheadrightarrow \underline{\omega}_{\tau}^{\pm}(C^{\infty})$ induce projections

 $\varpi_{\rho}(C^{\infty}): H^1_{dR}(C^{\infty})^{\rho} \twoheadrightarrow \underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})^{\rho},$

for all irreducible representations ρ as above.

As in [Kat78, (1.8.6)] and [Eis12, Section 8], $\nabla(\overline{\underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})}) \subseteq \overline{\underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})} \otimes \Omega_{\mathcal{M}(C^{\infty})/\mathbb{C}}$. We define

$$D_{\rho}(C^{\infty}) : \underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})^{\rho} \to \underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})^{\rho} \otimes \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\underline{\omega}_{\tau}^{+}(C^{\infty}) \otimes \underline{\omega}_{\tau}^{-}(C^{\infty}))$$

to be the restriction of $(\varpi_{\rho}(C^{\infty}) \otimes id) \circ \nabla_{\rho}$ to $\underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})^{\rho}$.

For each irreducible representation \mathcal{Z} of H that is sum-symmetric of some depth e, let $\pi_{\mathcal{Z}}$ be the projection of $(\bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\underline{\omega}_{\tau}^{+}(C^{\infty}) \otimes \underline{\omega}_{\tau}^{-}(C^{\infty})))^{e}$ onto $\underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})^{\mathcal{Z}}$ defined as in Section 2.4.3 (i.e. by projection onto summands and applying the generalized Young symmetrizer $c_{\mathcal{Z}}$).

We define

$$D^{\mathcal{Z}}_{\rho}(C^{\infty}) \coloneqq (\operatorname{id} \otimes \pi_{\mathcal{Z}}) \circ D^{e}_{\rho}(C^{\infty}) : \underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})^{\rho} \to \underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})^{\rho} \otimes \underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})^{\mathcal{Z}}.$$

As explained at the end of [Eis12, Section 8.1], the operators $D_{\rho}^{\mathcal{Z}}(C^{\infty})$ canonically induce operators, which we also denote by $D_{\rho}^{\mathcal{Z}}$,

$$D_{\rho}^{\mathcal{Z}}(C^{\infty}): \mathcal{E}_{\rho}(C^{\infty}) \to \mathcal{E}_{\rho \otimes \mathcal{Z}}(C^{\infty}).$$

(Many additional details of these operators, explicitly for unitary groups of signature (n, n) but which extend by similar arguments to the case of arbitrary signature, which we do not need in the present paper, are discussed in [Eis12, Section 8].)

Let κ' be a sum-symmetric weight of depth e, and κ be a positive dominant weight. Take $\rho = \rho_{\kappa}$ and $\mathcal{Z} = \rho_{\kappa'}$. By abuse of notation, we still denote by $\pi_{\kappa,\kappa'}$ the projection $\mathcal{E}_{\rho\otimes\mathcal{Z}}\to\mathcal{E}_{\rho_{\kappa,\kappa'}}$ induced by the projection $\pi_{\kappa,\kappa'}:\rho_{\kappa}\otimes\rho_{\kappa'}\to\rho_{\kappa\kappa'}$ defined in Lemma 2.4.6. We define

$$D_{\kappa}^{\kappa'}(C^{\infty}) \coloneqq \pi_{\kappa,\kappa'} \circ D_{\rho}^{\mathcal{Z}}(C^{\infty}) : \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}(C^{\infty}) \to \mathcal{E}_{\kappa \cdot \kappa'}(C^{\infty}).$$

3.3.2 p-adic differential operators on vector-valued automorphic forms

We now consider the pullback of the universal abelian scheme $\mathcal{A}^{\text{ord}}/\mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}}$ over Ig. In analogue with the Hodge decomposition of $H^1_{dR}(C^{\infty})$, there is a decomposition over Ig

$$H^1_{dR}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathrm{Ig}) = \underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathrm{Ig}} \oplus \underline{U},$$

where \underline{U} is Dwork's unit root submodule, introduced in [Kat73]. By [Kat78, Theorem (1.11.27)] and [Eis12, Proposition V.8], $\nabla(\underline{U}) \subset \underline{U} \otimes \Omega^1_{\mathrm{Ig/W}}$.

As before, for each irreducible representation ρ as above, we define

$$\varpi_{\rho}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathrm{Ig}): H^{1}_{dR}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathrm{Ig})^{\rho} \twoheadrightarrow \underline{\omega}^{\rho}_{\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathrm{Ig}}$$

to be the projection induced by Dwork's unit root decomposition after applying the Schur functor () $^{\rho}$. Note that $\underline{\omega}_{\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathrm{Ig}}^{\rho}$ is identified with the pullback of \mathcal{E}_{ρ} over Ig via the definition of Schur functors.

Analogously to how we defined the C^{∞} differential operators $D_{\rho}^{e}(C^{\infty})$, $D_{\rho}^{\mathcal{Z}}(C^{\infty})$, and $D_{\kappa}^{\kappa'}(C^{\infty})$ in Section 3.3.1, replacing $\underline{\omega}(C^{\infty})$ by \underline{U} , we define p-adic differential operators $D_{\rho}^{e}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathrm{Ig})$, $D_{\rho}^{\mathcal{Z}}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathrm{Ig})$, and $D_{\kappa}^{\kappa'}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathrm{Ig})$, for all $e, \mathcal{Z}, \kappa, \kappa'$, and ρ as above.

In the sequel, for each sum-symmetric weight κ' of depth e, and each positive dominant weight κ , we write

$$D_{\kappa}^{\kappa'} := D_{\kappa}^{\kappa'}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{ord}}/\mathrm{Ig}) : \mathcal{E}_{\kappa} \to \mathcal{E}_{\kappa \cdot \kappa'}.$$

4 Localization at an ordinary point

The ultimate goal of this section is to describe the action of the differential operators on the t-expansions of p-adic automorphic forms. We start by describing the constructions of Section 3 in terms of Serre–Tate local parameters, now taking $S = \mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}}$ the ordinary locus of a connected component \mathcal{S} of the Shimura variety \mathcal{M} , and A/S the universal abelian scheme $A = \mathcal{A}^{\text{ord}}$ (as defined in the beginning of Section 2.5).

Throughout the section, we fix a point $x \in \operatorname{Ig}(\mathbb{W})$ lying above $x_0 \in \mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{W})$, and denote by \bar{x}, \bar{x}_0 their reduction modulo p. In the following, we write \mathcal{R} for the complete local ring $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}, x_0}$ corresponding to $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}^{\wedge}}_{\bar{x}_0}$ introduced in Section 2.7.1, and $\mathfrak{m}_{\mathcal{R}} = \mathfrak{m}_{\bar{x}_0}$ for its maximal ideal. We denote by $\mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ord}}_{x_0}$ the universal formal deformation of the abelian variety with additional structures $A_0 = A_{\bar{x}_0}$, i.e. $\mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ord}}_{x_0}$ is the base change of $\mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ord}}$ from $\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}$ to \mathcal{R} and has special fiber A_0 . By abuse of notation, we also abbreviate $\mathcal{A}^{\operatorname{ord}}_{x_0}$ by A.

4.1 The Gauss–Manin connection

In [Kat81] Katz explicitly describes the Gauss–Manin connection and Dwork's unit root submodule in terms of the Serre–Tate coordinates. We recall his results.

Let $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ denote the formal relative de Rham cohomology bundle, $\hat{\mathcal{H}} = R^1 \pi_*(\Omega^1_{A/\mathcal{R}})$. We write Φ for the \mathcal{R} -semilinear action of Frobenius on $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$, and

$$0 \to \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}} \to \hat{\mathcal{H}} \to \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}}^{\vee} \to 0 \tag{18}$$

for the (localized) Hodge exact sequence over \mathcal{R} (where we identified $H^1(A, \mathcal{O}_A)$ with $\underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}}^{\vee}$ as in Equation (12)).

PROPOSITION 4.1.1. [Kat81, Cor. 4.2.2] Notation and assumptions are the same as above.

1. There is a canonical Frobenius-equivariant isomorphism

$$\alpha: T_p(A_0^{\vee}) \otimes \mathcal{R} \to \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}},$$

where the \mathcal{R} -semilinear action of Frobenius on the left hand side is defined by extending multiplication by p on $T_p(A_0^{\vee})$.

2. There is a canonical Frobenius-equivariant isomorphism

$$a: \operatorname{Hom}(T_p A_0, \mathbb{Z}_p) \otimes \mathcal{R} \to \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}}^{\vee}$$

where the \mathcal{R} -semilinear action of Frobenius on the left hand side is defined by extending the identity on $\operatorname{Hom}(T_pA_0,\mathbb{Z}_p)\otimes\mathcal{R}$.

3. The surjection

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}} \to \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}}^{\vee} \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(T_p A_0, \mathbb{Z}_p) \otimes \mathcal{R}$$

induces an isomorphism between the \mathbb{Z}_p -submodule L_1 of $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ where Φ acts trivially and $\operatorname{Hom}(T_pA_0,\mathbb{Z}_p)$. The inverse of such an isomorphism defines a canonical splitting of the Hodge exact sequence over \mathcal{R} , $v:\underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}}^{\vee}\to \hat{\mathcal{H}}$, i.e. there is a canonical \mathcal{R} -linear decomposition $\hat{\mathcal{H}} = \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}} \oplus (L_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R})$.

Remark 4.1.2. The submodule $L_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R}$ agrees with the base change \underline{U}_{x_0} of Dwork's unit root submodule \underline{U} to \mathcal{R} introduced in Section 3.3.2. In the following, we write $\underline{U}_{\mathcal{R}} \subset \hat{\mathcal{H}}$ for the submodule $L_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \subset \hat{\mathcal{H}}$ and denote by $u: \hat{\mathcal{H}} \to \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}$ the projection modulo $\underline{U}_{\mathcal{R}}$.

Remark 4.1.3. In our setting, the action of \mathcal{O}_K on the abelian scheme A/\mathcal{R} induces natural structures of \mathcal{O}_K -modules on $T_p(A_0^\vee)$, $\operatorname{Hom}(T_pA_0,\mathbb{Z}_p)$, $\underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}$, and $\underline{\omega}_{A^\vee/\mathcal{R}}^\vee$. It follows from the construction that the isomorphisms α and a are \mathcal{O}_K -linear.

By abuse of notation we will still denote by ∇ the Gauss–Manin connection on $\hat{\mathcal{H}}/\mathcal{R}$,

$$\nabla: \hat{\mathcal{H}} \to \hat{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \Omega^1_{\mathcal{R}/\mathbb{W}}.$$

In the following proposition, we denote by \mathfrak{q} the universal bilinear form on \mathcal{R} introduced in Equation (8), and by $T_p(\lambda)$ the isomorphism of physical Tate modules, $T_pA_0 \cong T_p(A_0^{\vee})$, induced by the polarization λ . Finally, for any \mathbb{Z}_p -basis \mathfrak{T} of T_pA_0 , we denote by $\{\delta_Q|Q\in\mathfrak{T}\}$ the associated dual basis of $\mathrm{Hom}(T_pA_0,\mathbb{Z}_p)$.

PROPOSITION 4.1.4. ([Kat81, Thm. 4.3.1]) The notation is the same as in Proposition 4.1.1.

- 1. For each $\delta \in \text{Hom}(T_pA_0, \mathbb{Z}_p)$, the differential $\eta_{\delta} := v(a(\delta)) \in L_1$ satisfies $\nabla \eta_{\delta} = 0$.
- 2. For each $e \in T_p(A_0^{\vee})$, the differentials $\omega_e = \alpha(e) \in \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}$ satisfy

$$\nabla \omega_e = \sum_{Q \in \mathfrak{T}} \eta_{\delta_Q} \otimes d \log \mathfrak{q}(Q, T_p(\lambda)^{-1}(e)),$$

for any \mathbb{Z}_p -basis \mathfrak{T} of T_pA_0 .

Note that Part (1) implies that $\nabla(\underline{U}_{\mathcal{R}}) \subset \underline{U}_{\mathcal{R}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \Omega^1_{\mathcal{R}/\mathbb{W}}$, as stated in Section 3.3.2. Also, Part (2) implies that for each $e \in T_p(A_0^{\vee})$, the differentials ω_e satisfy $\nabla \omega_e \in \underline{U}_{\mathcal{R}} \subset \hat{\mathcal{H}}$, i.e., $u(\nabla \omega_e) = 0$.

4.2 The Kodaira-Spencer morphism

In this section, we explicitly describe the Kodaira–Spencer morphism in terms of the Serre–Tate coordinates. By abuse of notation we will still denote by KS the localization at the point $x_0 \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{W})$ of the Kodaira–Spencer morphism, i.e.

$$KS : \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}} \to \Omega^1_{\mathcal{R}/\mathbb{W}}.$$

PROPOSITION 4.2.1. For all $P \in T_pA_0$, let $\omega_P := \alpha(T_p(\lambda)(P))$. Then, for all $P, P' \in T_pA_0$ and any \mathbb{Z}_p -basis \mathfrak{T} of T_pA_0 ,

$$KS(\omega_P \otimes \omega_{P'}) = \sum_{Q \in \mathfrak{T}} (Q, P')_{\lambda} d\log \mathfrak{q}(Q, P),$$

where $(,)_{\lambda}$ denotes the λ -Weil pairing on T_pA_0 .

Proof. By definition, for any $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}$,

$$KS(\omega_1 \otimes \omega_2) = \langle (\pi \otimes id)(\nabla \omega_1), \lambda(\omega_2) \rangle \in \Omega_{\mathcal{R}/\mathbb{W}},$$

where $\pi: \hat{\mathcal{H}} \to \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}}^{\vee}$ is the projection in the Hodge exact sequence, $\lambda: \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}}$ is the isomorphism induced by the polarization λ on A, and $\langle,\rangle: \left(\underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}}^{\vee} \otimes \Omega_{A/\mathcal{R}}^{1}\right) \times \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}} \to \Omega_{A/\mathcal{R}}^{1}$ is the map obtained by extending the natural pairing $(,): \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}}^{\vee} \times \underline{\omega}_{A^{\vee}/\mathcal{R}} \to \mathcal{R}$ by the identity map on $\Omega_{A/\mathcal{R}}^{1}$.

Let us fix a basis \mathfrak{T} of T_pA_0 ; for all $P \in \mathfrak{T}$, we write $\eta_P := \eta_{\delta_P} = v(a(\delta_P))$. We deduce from the definitions and Proposition 4.1.4 that for all $P, Q \in \mathfrak{T}$,

$$\langle \pi(\eta_Q), \lambda(\omega_P) \rangle = (Q, P)_{\lambda}$$
, and $\nabla \omega_P = \sum_{Q \in \mathfrak{T}} \eta_Q \otimes d \log \mathfrak{q}(Q, P)$.

Thus, for all $P, P' \in \mathfrak{T}$, we have

$$KS(\omega_P \otimes \omega_{P'}) = \langle (\pi \otimes id) \nabla (\omega_P), \lambda(\omega_{P'}) \rangle =$$

$$= \langle \sum_{Q \in \mathfrak{T}} \pi(\eta_Q), \lambda(\omega_{P'}) \rangle d\log \mathfrak{q}(Q, P) = \sum_{Q \in \mathfrak{T}} (Q, P')_{\lambda} d\log \mathfrak{q}(Q, P).$$

Remark 4.2.2. Theorem 2.7.1 implies that for any $P \in T_{\mathfrak{P}_i}A_0$, $\mathfrak{q}(Q,P)=0$ unless $Q \in T_{\mathfrak{P}_i^c}A_0$. Thus, the morphism KS factors via the quotient $\underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}^2=\oplus_{\tau\in\Sigma}\left(\underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R},\tau}^+\otimes\underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R},\tau}^-\right)$, and Proposition 3.2.1 implies that the induced map is an isomorphism.

4.3 The differential operators

Finally, in this section we explicitly describe the differential operators in terms of the Serre–Tate coordinates. By abuse of notation, we will still denote by D_{ρ} (resp. D_{ρ}^{e}) the localization at x_{0} of the differential operators D_{ρ} (resp. D_{ρ}^{e}) introduced in Section 3.3, i.e. its base change to \mathcal{R} .

We briefly recall the constructions. Let $u: \hat{\mathcal{H}} \to \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}$ denote the projection modulo $\underline{U}_{\mathcal{R}}$ (as defined in Remark 4.1.2). We define

$$D := (u \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \nabla|_{\underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}} : \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}} \to \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \Omega^{1}_{\mathcal{R}/\mathbb{W}}, \tag{19}$$

where id denotes the identity map on $\Omega^1_{\mathcal{R}/\mathbb{W}}$.

By abuse of notation, we still denote by ks⁻¹: $\Omega^1_{\mathcal{R}/\mathbb{W}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}^2 \subset \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}^{\otimes 2}$ the localization of the inverse of the Kodaira–Spencer isomorphism defined in Proposition 3.2.1.

For all positive integers d and e, we write

$$D_{\otimes d} \coloneqq (u^{\otimes d} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \nabla_{\otimes d}|_{\underline{\omega}^{\otimes d}_{A/\mathcal{R}}} : \underline{\omega}^{\otimes d}_{A/\mathcal{R}} \to \underline{\omega}^{\otimes d}_{A/\mathcal{R}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} \Omega^1_{\mathcal{R}/\mathbb{W}},$$

$$D^1_{\otimes d} \coloneqq (\operatorname{id}_{\underline{\omega}^{\otimes d}_{A/\mathcal{R}}} \otimes \operatorname{ks}^{-1}) \circ D_{\otimes d} \text{ and } D^e_{\otimes d} \coloneqq D^1_{\otimes d+2e-2} \circ \cdots \circ D^1_{\otimes d}.$$

Let \mathcal{E}_{ρ,x_0} denote the localization of \mathcal{E}_{ρ} , i.e. the base change to \mathcal{R} . For any irreducible representation $\rho = \rho_{\kappa}$, and positive integer e, the differential operator

$$D_{\rho}^{e}: \mathcal{E}_{\rho, x_{0}} \to \mathcal{E}_{\rho, x_{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} (\underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}^{2})^{\otimes e}$$

is induced by the restrictions of $D^e_{\otimes d_\kappa}$ to $\underline{\omega}^\rho_{A/\mathcal{R}}$. In the following, we also write $D_\rho = D^1_\rho$.

4.3.1 Local description

We fix a point $x \in Ig(\mathbb{W})$ lying above x_0 , and define α_x to be the $\mathcal{O}_K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{R}$ -linear isomorphism

$$\alpha_x \coloneqq \alpha \circ (T_p(\iota_x^{\vee})^{\vee} \otimes \mathrm{id}) : \mathcal{L} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \tilde{\mathcal{R}} \overset{\widetilde{}}{\to} T_p A_0^{\vee} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \to \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}},$$

where $T_p(\iota_x^{\vee}): T_pA_0 \to \mathcal{L}^{\vee}$ is defined as in (9) and $\alpha: T_p(A_0^{\vee}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \to \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}$ as in Proposition 4.1.1(1), and we identify $T_p(A_0^{\vee})$ with $(T_pA_0)^{\vee}$ via the Weil pairing.

By linearity, we deduce that the isomorphism α_x induces isomorphisms

$$\alpha_{x,\tau}^+: \mathcal{L}_{\tau}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \overset{\sim}{\mathcal{R}} \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}_{x,\tau}}} \text{ and } \alpha_{x,\tau}^-: \mathcal{L}_{\tau}^- \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \overset{\sim}{\mathcal{R}} \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}_{x,\tau}}},$$

for each $\tau \in \Sigma$. We write

$$\alpha_x^2 \coloneqq \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\alpha_{x,\tau}^+ \otimes \alpha_{x,\tau}^-) : \mathcal{L}^2 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}^2,$$

(recall $\mathcal{L}^2 = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\mathcal{L}_{\tau}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_n} \mathcal{L}_{\tau}^-)$), and

$$\mathrm{ks}_x \coloneqq \mathrm{ks} \circ \alpha_x^2 : \mathcal{L}^2 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \Omega^1_{\mathcal{R}/\mathbb{W}}.$$

For any irreducible representation ρ , the map α_x also induces an $\mathcal{O}_K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{R}$ -linear isomorphism

$$\alpha_x^{\rho}: \mathcal{L}^{\rho} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{E}_{\rho, x_0},$$

via the identification of \mathcal{E}_{ρ,x_0} with $\underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{P}}^{\rho}$ defined by x.

Finally, for all $e \in \mathbb{N}$, we define $\alpha_x^{\rho,e} := \alpha_x^{\rho} \otimes_{\mathcal{R}} (\alpha_x^2)^{\otimes e}$,

$$\alpha_x^{\rho,e}:\mathcal{L}^\rho\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes e}\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p}\mathcal{R}=(\mathcal{L}^\rho\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p}\mathcal{R})\otimes_{\mathcal{R}}((\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes e}\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p}\mathcal{R})\stackrel{\sim}{\to}\mathcal{E}_{\rho,x_0}\otimes_{\mathcal{R}}(\underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}^2)^{\otimes e}.$$

Let $d: \mathcal{R} \to \Omega^1_{\mathcal{R}/\mathbb{W}}$ denote the universal W-derivation on \mathcal{R} . We define

$$\Xi := ks_x^{-1} \circ d : \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{L}^2 \otimes \mathcal{R}.$$

For any integer $e \in \mathbb{N}$, we write

$$\Xi^e := (\mathrm{id}_{(\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes (e-1)}} \otimes \Xi) \circ \cdots \circ \Xi : \mathcal{R} \to (\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes e} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_n} \mathcal{R}.$$

Proposition 4.3.1. For any irreducible representation ρ , and any integer $e \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$(\alpha_x^{\rho,e})^{-1} \circ D_{\rho}^e \circ \alpha_x^{\rho} = \operatorname{id} \otimes \Xi^e : \mathcal{L}^{\rho} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{L}^{\rho} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} (\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes e} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R},$$

Proof. Proposition 4.1.4 implies $(\alpha \otimes id)^{-1} \circ D \circ \alpha = id \otimes d$, with D defined as in (19). We deduce that

$$(\alpha_x \otimes \mathrm{id})^{-1} \circ D \circ \alpha_x = \mathrm{id} \otimes d : \mathcal{L} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{L} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \Omega^1_{R/\mathbb{W}}.$$

Therefore, for any representation ρ , we have

$$(\alpha_x^\rho \otimes \mathrm{id})^{-1} \circ D_\rho \circ \alpha_x^\rho = \mathrm{id} \otimes \mathrm{ks}^{-1} \circ d : \mathcal{L}^\rho \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{L}^\rho \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \underline{\omega}_{A/\mathcal{R}}^2,$$

and thus also $(\alpha_x^{\rho,1})^{-1} \circ D_\rho \circ \alpha_x^\rho = \mathrm{id} \otimes \Xi$.

The general case, for $e \ge 2$, follows from the case e = 1.

4.3.2 Explicit description of Ξ in terms of Serre–Tate coordinates

We conclude this section with an explicit description of the map Ξ in terms of Serre–Tate coordinates. Let \mathfrak{B} be a \mathbb{Z}_p -basis of \mathcal{L} such that $\mathfrak{B} = \cup_{\tau \in \Sigma} (\mathfrak{B}_{\tau}^+ \cup \mathfrak{B}_{\tau}^-)$ where, for all $\tau \in \Sigma$, $\mathfrak{B}_{\tau}^+ = \{\mathfrak{b}_{\tau,1}, \ldots, \mathfrak{b}_{\tau,a_{+\tau}}\}$ is a \mathbb{Z}_p -basis of \mathcal{L}_{τ}^+ and $\mathfrak{B}_{\tau}^- = \{\mathfrak{b}_{\tau,a_{+\tau}+1}, \ldots, \mathfrak{b}_{\tau,n}\}$ is a \mathbb{Z}_p -basis of \mathcal{L}_{τ}^- such that \mathfrak{B}_{τ}^\pm and $\mathfrak{B}_{\tau^c}^\pm$ are dual to each other under the Hermitian pairing on \mathcal{L} . We denote by $\mathfrak{E} = \cup_{\tau \in \Sigma} \mathfrak{E}_{\tau}$ (resp. \mathfrak{E}^{\vee} , $\mathfrak{E}_e = \mathfrak{E} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{E}$ e times, and $\mathfrak{E}_e^{\vee} = \mathfrak{E}^{\vee} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}$ e times) the associated bases of $\mathcal{L}^2 = \bigoplus_{\tau \in \Sigma} \mathcal{L}_{\tau}^+ \otimes \mathcal{L}_{\tau}^-$ (resp. $(\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee}$, $(\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes e}$, and $((\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee})^{\otimes e} = ((\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes e})^{\vee}$). Explicitly,

$$\mathfrak{E}_{\tau} = \big\{ l_{i,j}^{\tau} \coloneqq \mathfrak{b}_{\tau,i} \otimes \mathfrak{b}_{\tau,j} : 0 < i \leq a_{+\tau} < j \leq n \big\}.$$

Note that the pairing on \mathcal{L} induces a canonical isomorphism $\mathcal{L}^2 \stackrel{\sim}{\to} (\mathcal{L}^2)^\vee$, which identifies \mathfrak{E} with \mathfrak{E}^\vee . In the following, by abuse of notation we write $l \mapsto l^\vee$, for both the map $\mathfrak{E} \to \mathfrak{E}^\vee$ and its inverse.

Let $\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*}: \mathbb{W}[[t_{l}|l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]] \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{R}$ denote the Serre–Tate isomorphism associated with the choice of x and \mathfrak{E}^{\vee} , as defined in Remark 2.7.3. Recall that, for all $l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}$, we have $\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*}(t_{l}) = \mathfrak{q}(t_{x}^{-1}(l)) - 1$, with $t_{x} = T_{p}(\iota_{x}^{\vee})^{\otimes 2}$.

PROPOSITION 4.3.2. The notation is the same as above. For all $f \in \mathcal{R}$ and $k \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}$, we have

$$\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*-1}((k \otimes \mathrm{id})(\Xi(f))) = (1+t_k)\partial_k\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*-1}(f) \in \mathbb{W}[[t_l|l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]],$$

where $\partial_k \coloneqq \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k}$ denotes the partial derivation with respect to the variable t_k .

Proof. From the definition of Ξ follows that it suffices to prove the equalities

$$\beta_{x,\mathfrak{G}^{\vee}}^{*-1}(k \otimes \mathrm{id})(\Xi(\beta_{x,\mathfrak{G}^{\vee}}^{*}(t_l))) = (1+t_l)\delta_{l,k}$$

where $\delta_{l,k}$ denotes the Kronecker symbol (i.e. $\delta_{lk} = 1$ if l = k, and 0 otherwise), for all $k, l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}$. We have (using Proposition 4.2.1)

$$\begin{split} \Xi(\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*}(t_{l})) &= (\alpha_{x}^{2})^{-1} \mathrm{ks}^{-1} d(\mathfrak{q}(t_{x}^{-1}(l)) - 1) = (\alpha_{x}^{2})^{-1} \mathrm{ks}^{-1} (d\mathfrak{q}(t_{x}^{-1}(l))) = \\ &= (\alpha_{x}^{2})^{-1} \mathrm{ks}^{-1} (\mathfrak{q}(t_{x}^{-1}(l)) d \mathrm{log} \mathfrak{q}(t_{x}^{-1}(l))) = l^{\vee} \otimes \mathfrak{q}(t_{x}^{-1}(l)), \end{split}$$

which implies

$$\begin{array}{ll} \beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*-1}(k \otimes \mathrm{id})(\Xi(\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*}(t_{l}))) & = & \beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*-1}(k \otimes \mathrm{id})(l^{\vee} \otimes \mathfrak{q}(t_{x}^{-1}(l))) \\ & = & \beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*-1}(\delta_{l,k}\mathfrak{q}(t_{x}^{-1}(l))) \\ & = & (1+t_{l})\delta_{l,k}. \end{array}$$

5 Main results on p-adic differential operators

In this section, we construct p-adic differential operators on Hida's space V^N of p-adic automorphic forms by interpolating the differential operators defined in Section 3. First, using the t-expansion principle and Theorem 2.6.1, we prove that the p-adic differential operators on the space of classical automorphic form extend uniquely to all of V^N (Theorem 5.1.3). Secondly, we prove that p-adic differential operators of congruent weights are congruent (Theorem 5.2.6). As a corollary, we establish the existence of p-adic differential operators of p-adic weights interpolating those of classical weights (Corollary 5.2.8).

5.1 p-adic differential operators of classical weights

In this section we prove that the differential operators

$$D_{\kappa'}^{\kappa}: \mathcal{E}_{\rho_{\kappa'}} \to \mathcal{E}_{\rho_{\kappa' \cdot \kappa}},$$

(where κ' is a positive dominant weight and κ is a sum-symmetric weight) induce differential operators Θ^{χ} on the space of p-adic automorphic forms V^N , satisfying the property $\Theta^{\chi}(V^N[\chi']) \subset V^N[\chi' \cdot \chi]$ for all p-adic weights χ' .

In the following, we write \mathcal{E}_{κ} (resp. \mathcal{L}^{κ} , α_{x}^{κ} , ...) in place of $\mathcal{E}_{\rho_{\kappa}}$ (resp. $\mathcal{L}^{\rho_{\kappa}}$, $\alpha_{x}^{\rho_{\kappa}}$, ...). By abuse of notation, we still write $D_{\kappa'}^{\kappa}$ in place of the map on global sections

$$D_{\kappa'}^{\kappa}(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}): H^{0}(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa'}) \to H^{0}(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa' \cdot \kappa}).$$

For any weight κ' , we write $\Psi_{\kappa'}: H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa'}) \hookrightarrow V^N[\kappa'] \subset V$ as in (6). By definition, the localization of $\Psi_{\kappa'}$ at the point $x \in \mathrm{Ig}(\mathbb{W})$ agrees with the map

$$(\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa'} \otimes \operatorname{id}) \circ (\alpha_x^{\kappa'})^{-1} : \mathcal{E}_{\kappa',x_0} \to \mathcal{L}^{\kappa'} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}.$$

where $\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa'}: \mathcal{L}^{\kappa'} \to \mathbb{Z}_p$ is defined as in Definition 2.4.2, and id denotes the identity of \mathcal{R} .

By abuse of notation, for any sum-symmetric weight κ of depth e, we still denote by

$$\tilde{\ell}_{\mathrm{can}}^{\kappa}: (\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes e} \to \mathbb{Z}_p$$

the map induced by $\tilde{\ell}_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa}: \mathcal{L}^{\otimes 2e} \to \mathbb{Z}_p$ as defined in Definition 2.4.2 (recall that $(\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes e}$ is a direct summand of $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes 2e}$, see also Remark 2.4.5). We write $\tilde{\ell}_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} \otimes \operatorname{id}: (\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes e} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$ for the associated \mathcal{R} -linear map.

DEFINITION 5.1.1. For any positive integer $e \in \mathbb{N}$, and any sum-symmetric weight κ of depth e, we define

$$\theta^{\kappa} := (\tilde{\ell}_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} \otimes \operatorname{id}) \circ \Xi^{e} : \mathcal{R} \to (\mathcal{L}^{2})^{\otimes e} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{n}} \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}.$$

We call θ^{κ} the κ -differential operator on Serre–Tate expansions.

We fix a point $x \in Ig(\mathbb{W})$, and write $loc_x : V^N \to \mathcal{R}$ for the localization map at x as introduced in Section 2.7.2.

LEMMA 5.1.2. For any weights κ, κ' , where κ' is positive dominant and κ is sum-symmetric, and for all $f \in H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa'})$, we have

$$\theta^{\kappa}(\operatorname{loc}_{x}(\Psi_{\kappa'}(f))) = \operatorname{loc}_{x}(\Psi_{\kappa' \cdot \kappa}(D_{\kappa'}^{\kappa}(f))).$$

Proof. Let $\pi_{\kappa',\kappa}: \mathcal{L}^{\kappa'} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{\kappa} \to \mathcal{L}^{\kappa'\cdot\kappa}$ be defined as in Lemma 2.4.6. By Equation (3) we have $\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa'} \otimes \ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} = \ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa'\cdot\kappa} \circ \pi_{\kappa',\kappa}: \mathcal{L}^{\kappa'} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{\kappa} \to \mathcal{L}^{\kappa'\cdot\kappa} \to \mathcal{R}$, and the lemma then follows from Proposition 4.3.1.

Theorem 5.1.3. For each sum-symmetric weight κ , there exists a unique operator

$$\Theta^{\kappa}: V^N \to V^N$$

such that $\Theta^{\kappa} \circ \Psi := \Psi \circ D_{\kappa'}^{\kappa}$.

The p-adic κ -differential operator Θ^{κ} satisfies the properties:

- 1. for all $f \in V^N$: $loc_x \circ \Theta^{\kappa} = \theta^{\kappa} \circ loc_x$,
- 2. for all weights $\kappa' : \Theta^{\kappa}(V^N[\kappa']) \subset V^N[\kappa' \cdot \kappa]$.

Proof. Using the fact that Ψ is an injection, we first define Θ^{κ} on the image of Ψ in V by

$$\Theta^{\kappa}(f) \coloneqq \Psi \circ D^{\kappa}_{\kappa'} \circ \Psi^{-1}(f)$$

for each $f \in \operatorname{im}(\Psi_{\kappa'})$ for all positive dominant weights κ' . Since

$$\Psi\left(\bigoplus_{\substack{\kappa \in X(T)_{+,} \\ \kappa \text{ positive}}} H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa})\right) \left[\frac{1}{p}\right] \cap V^N$$

is dense in V^N , it is clear that if Θ^{κ} exists, then it is unique. In order to prove that indeed Θ^{κ} extends to all of V^N , it is sufficient to check that if $f_1, f_2, \ldots \in \operatorname{Im}(\Psi)$ converge to an element $f \in V^N$, then $\Theta^{\kappa}(f_1), \Theta^{\kappa}(f_2), \ldots$ converge in V^N to $\Theta^{\kappa}(f) \in V^N$.

By the Serre–Tate expansion principle (Theorem 2.7.4), one can check convergence after passing to t-expansions, in which case the statement follows from Lemma 5.1.2. Properties (1) and (2) follow immediately from the construction.

Remark 5.1.4. The operators Θ^{κ} play a role analogous to the role played by Ramanujan's theta operator in the theory of modular forms and Katz's theta operator in the theory of Hilbert modular forms (see [Kat78, Remark (2.6.28)]).

5.2 p-adic differential operators of p-adic weights

In this section we establish congruence relations for the differential operators Θ^{κ} as κ varies. As an application we deduce the existence of p-adic differential operators Θ^{χ} for p-adic characters χ , interpolating operators of classical weights.

In the following, we fix a \mathbb{Z}_p -basis $\mathfrak{B}^{\vee} = \cup_{\tau} (\{\mathfrak{b}_{\tau,1}^{\vee}, \dots, \mathfrak{b}_{\tau,a_{+\tau}}^{\vee}\} \cup \{\mathfrak{b}_{\tau,a_{+\tau}+1}^{\vee}, \dots, \mathfrak{b}_{\tau,n}^{\vee}\})$ of \mathcal{L}^{\vee} as in Section 4.3.2, and write \mathfrak{E}^{\vee} (resp. \mathfrak{E}_e^{\vee}) for the associated basis of $(\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee}$ (resp. $((\mathcal{L}^2)^{\otimes e})^{\vee}$).

Remark 5.2.1. For any sum-symmetric weight $\kappa = (\kappa_1^{\tau}, \dots, \kappa_n^{\tau})$, Equation (2), i.e.

$$\tilde{\ell}_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma} \prod_{i=1}^{n} (\kappa_{i}^{\tau}!)^{-1} \cdot \bigotimes_{\tau \in \Sigma} \bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} (\mathfrak{b}_{\tau,i}^{\vee})^{\otimes \kappa_{i}^{\tau}} \cdot c_{\kappa}, \tag{20}$$

implies that $\tilde{\ell}_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa}$ is a linear combination of elements of the basis \mathfrak{E}_{e}^{\vee} of $((\mathcal{L}^{2})^{\vee})^{\otimes e}$ with coefficients in $\{\pm 1\}$, for $e = \sum_{\tau \in \Sigma} \sum_{i=1}^{a_{+\tau}} \kappa_{i}^{\tau}$ the depth of κ .

For all $\underline{l} = (l_1, \ldots, l_e) \in \mathfrak{E}_e^{\vee}$, we define $a_{\kappa,\underline{l}} \in \{0, \pm 1\}$ such that $\tilde{\ell}_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} = \sum_{l \in \mathfrak{E}_e^{\vee}} a_{\kappa,\underline{l}} \cdot \underline{l}$.

We choose a point $x \in \operatorname{Ig}(\mathbb{W})$, and write $\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^* : \mathbb{W}[[t_l | l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]] \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{R}$ for the Serre–Tate isomorphism at the point x, written with respect to the \mathbb{Z}_p -basis \mathfrak{E}^{\vee} of $(\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee}$.

LEMMA 5.2.2. The notation is the same as above. For any sum-symmetric weight κ of depth e, and for all $f \in \mathcal{R}$, we have $\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*-1}(\theta^{\kappa}(f))$ is equal to

$$\sum_{l=(l_1,\ldots,l_e)\in\mathfrak{E}_e^{\vee}}a_{\kappa,\underline{l}}(1+t_{l_e})\partial_{l_e}\left(\ldots(1+t_{l_2})\partial_{l_2}\left((1+t_{l_1})\partial_{l_1}(\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*-1}(f))\right)\ldots\right).$$

Proof. The equality follows from the definitions and Proposition 4.3.2.

5.2.1 Congruences and actions of p-adic differential operators

We now prove a lemma describing properties of certain differential operators $\theta^{\underline{d}}$ that are closely related to those appearing in the right-hand side of the equality in Lemma 5.2.2. For each $\underline{l} = (l_1, \ldots, l_e) \in \mathfrak{E}_e^{\vee}$, we define

$$\theta_{\overline{e}}^{l}: \mathbb{W}[[t_{l}|l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]] \rightarrow \mathbb{W}[[t_{l}|l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]]$$

$$\beta \mapsto (1 + t_{l_{e}})\partial_{l_{e}}(\dots(1 + t_{l_{2}})\partial_{l_{2}}((1 + t_{l_{1}})\partial_{l_{1}}(\beta))\dots).$$

For convenience, we first introduce some more notation. For all $l_{i,j}^{\tau} \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}$ as in Section 4.3.2, we define

$$\theta_{i,j}^{\tau} : \mathbb{W}[[t_l | l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]] \to \mathbb{W}[[t_l | l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]] \quad f \mapsto (1 + t_{l_{i,j}^{\tau}}) \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{l_{i,j}^{\tau}}} f.$$
 (21)

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 22 (2017) 1-1000

Note that these operators commute, i.e. for $l_{i,j}^{\tau}$ and $l_{i',j'}^{\tau'} \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}$, $\theta_{i,j}^{\tau} \circ \theta_{i',j'}^{\tau'} = \theta_{i',j'}^{\tau'} \circ \theta_{i,j}^{\tau}$.

For all $\underline{d} = (d_{i,j}^{\tau})_{l_{i,j}^{\tau} \in \mathfrak{C}^{\vee}} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{|\mathfrak{C}^{\vee}|}$, we define $\theta^{\underline{d}}$ as the composition of the $d_{i,j}^{\tau}$ -th iterates of $\theta_{i,j}^{\tau}$ for all $l_{i,j}^{\tau} \in \mathfrak{C}^{\vee}$ (we take $(\theta_{i,j}^{\tau})^0 = \mathrm{id}$). By commutativity, the order does not matter. For each $\underline{l} \in \mathfrak{E}_{e}^{\vee}$, we define $\underline{d}(\underline{l})$ to be the tuple of non-negative integers such that

$$\theta^{\underline{d}(\underline{l})} = \theta_{\underline{e}}^{\underline{l}}.\tag{22}$$

Remark 5.2.3. Let R denote the subring of polynomials in \mathcal{R} , i.e. $R := \mathbb{W}[t_l | l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}] \subset \mathcal{R} = \mathbb{W}[[t_l | l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]]$. The differential operators $\theta^{\underline{d}}$ on \mathcal{R} are continuous for the $(t_l | l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee})$ -adic topology on \mathcal{R} , and preserve the subring R, i.e. $\theta^{\underline{d}}(R) \subseteq R$. In particular, congruences among the operators $\theta^{\underline{d}}$ on \mathcal{R} can be detected by studying congruences among their restrictions to R.

Furthermore, for all polynomials $f(\underline{t}) \in R$, if we write $f(\underline{t}) = \sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha} (1 + \underline{t})^{\alpha}$, where $(1 + \underline{t})^{\alpha} := \prod_{\tau} \prod_{i,j} (1 + t_{l_{i,j}^{\tau}})^{\alpha_{j,i}^{\tau}}$ for a collection of numbers $\alpha_{j,i}^{\tau} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, then

$$(\theta^{\underline{d}}f)(\underline{t}) = \sum_{\alpha} \phi_{\underline{d}}(\alpha)c_{\alpha}(1+\underline{t})^{\alpha}, \tag{23}$$

where $\phi_{\underline{d}}$ is a polynomial (in the numbers $\alpha_{j,i}^{\tau}$) dependent on \underline{d} . (We set $\alpha := (\alpha^{\tau})_{\tau}$, with $\alpha^{\tau} = (\alpha_{j,i}^{\tau})$.) Therefore, congruences among the operators $\theta^{\underline{d}}$ on R can be detected by studying congruences among the polynomials $\phi_{\underline{d}}$. (Note that Formula (23) does not extend to \mathcal{R} as in general an element of \mathcal{R} cannot be written as a power series in $(1 + \underline{t})$.)

PROPOSITION 5.2.4. Let κ, κ' be two symmetric weights (as in Definition 2.4.4) and let $m \ge 1$ be an integer. Assume

$$\kappa \equiv \kappa' \bmod p^m (p-1)$$

in \mathbb{Z}^{rn} . Additionally, if

- (i) $\min(\kappa_i^{\tau} \kappa_{i+1}^{\tau}, {\kappa'}_i^{\tau} {\kappa'}_{i+1}^{\tau}) > m \text{ for all } \tau \in \Sigma \text{ and } 1 \leq i < a_{+\tau} \text{ for which } \kappa_i^{\tau} \kappa_{i+1}^{\tau} \neq {\kappa'}_i^{\tau} {\kappa'}_{i+1}^{\tau}, \text{ and}$
- $(ii) \ \min(\kappa_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau}, {\kappa'}_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau}) > m \ for \ all \ \tau \in \Sigma \ for \ which \ \kappa_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau} \neq {\kappa'}_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau},$

then $\theta^{\kappa} \equiv \theta^{\kappa'} \mod p^{m+1}$.

Proof. By Lemma 5.2.2 and Equation (22), we obtain

$$\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*-1} \circ \theta^{\kappa} \circ \beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*} = \sum_{\underline{l} \in \mathfrak{E}_{e}^{\vee}} a_{\kappa,\underline{l}} \cdot \theta^{\underline{d}(\underline{l})} . \tag{24}$$

We assume without loss of generality that

$$\kappa' = \kappa \cdot \left(\varepsilon_1^\tau \varepsilon_{a_{+\tau}+1}^\tau \varepsilon_2^\tau \varepsilon_{a_{+\tau}+2}^\tau ... \varepsilon_i^\tau \varepsilon_{a_{+\tau}+i}^\tau\right)^{p^m(p-1)}$$

for some $\tau \in \Sigma$. (Recall that ε_j^{τ} denotes the character of $T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ given by $\varepsilon_j^{\tau}(\operatorname{diag}(\gamma_{1,1}^{\sigma}, \dots, \gamma_{n,n}^{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \Sigma}) = \gamma_{j,j}^{\tau}$, i.e. such that $\kappa^{\tau} = \prod_j (\varepsilon_j^{\tau})^{\kappa_j^{\tau}}$.) By combining Equations (24) and (20), and analyzing the action of the generalized Young symmetrizer, we obtain that

$$\beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*-1} \circ \theta^{\kappa'} \circ \beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*} = \sum_{\underline{l} \in \mathfrak{E}_{e}^{\vee}} a_{\kappa,\underline{l}} \theta^{\underline{d}(\underline{l})} \left(i! \cdot \left(\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{i}} (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)} \cdot \prod_{j=1}^{i} \theta_{j,a_{+\tau}+\sigma(j)}^{\tau} \right) \right)^{p^{m}(p-1)}$$

$$\equiv \sum_{\underline{l} \in \mathfrak{E}_{e}^{\vee}} a_{\kappa,\underline{l}} \theta^{\underline{d}(\underline{l})}$$

$$= \beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*-1} \circ \theta^{\kappa} \circ \beta_{x,\mathfrak{E}^{\vee}}^{*} \operatorname{mod} p^{m+1},$$

$$(25)$$

where congruence (26) follows from the following observation.

In the notation of Remark 5.2.3,

$$\left(i! \cdot \left(\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_i} (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)} \cdot \prod_{j=1}^i \theta_{j,a_{+\tau}+\sigma(j)}^{\tau}\right)\right)^{p^m(p-1)}$$

has the effect of multiplying each polynomial $\phi_{d(l)}(\alpha)$ by

$$\left(i! \cdot \left(\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_i} (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)} \cdot \prod_{j=1}^i \alpha_{a_{+\tau} + \sigma(j), j}^{\tau}\right)\right), p^m(p-1)$$

which is congruent to

$$\equiv \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} 1 \bmod p^{m+1} & \text{ if each } \alpha_{a_{\tau\tau}+\sigma(j),j}^{\tau} \text{ is relatively prime to } p \\ 0 \bmod p^m & \text{ otherwise,} \end{array} \right.$$

because p > n (though note that $p > \max_{\tau \in \Sigma} \{ \min(a_{+\tau}, a_{-\tau}) \}$ is enough). If some $\alpha_{a_{+\tau}+\sigma(j),j}^{\tau}$ is divisible by p, then $\phi_{\underline{d}(\underline{l})}(\alpha) \equiv 0 \mod p^{m+1}$ by assumptions (i) and (ii).

Hence, we conclude that $\theta^{\kappa} \equiv \theta^{\kappa'} \mod p^{m+1}$ for all symmetric weights κ and κ' satisfying the above hypotheses.

Remark 5.2.5. Note that if κ is sum-symmetric, but not symmetric, then $\theta^{\kappa} = 0$. This follows by combining Equation (24) and 20 together with an analysis of the action of the generalized Young symmetrizer c_{κ} .

Theorem 5.2.6. Let κ, κ' be two symmetric weights and $m \ge 1$ be an integer. Assume

$$\kappa \equiv \kappa' \bmod p^m (p-1)$$

in \mathbb{Z}^{rn} . Additionally, if

- $\min(\kappa_i^{\tau} \kappa_{i+1}^{\tau}, \kappa_i^{\prime \tau} \kappa_{i+1}^{\prime \tau}) > m \text{ for all } \tau \in \Sigma \text{ and } 1 \leq i < a_{+\tau} \text{ for which } \kappa_i^{\tau} \kappa_{i+1}^{\tau} \neq \kappa_i^{\prime \tau} \kappa_{i+1}^{\prime \tau}, \text{ and}$
- $\bullet \ \min(\kappa_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau}, {\kappa'}_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau}) > m \ for \ all \ \tau \in \Sigma \ for \ which \ \kappa_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau} \neq {\kappa'}_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau},$

then $\Theta^{\kappa} \equiv \Theta^{\kappa'} \mod p^{m+1}$.

Proof. By the *p*-adic Serre–Tate expansion principle (Theorem 2.7.4), combined with Property (1) in Theorem 5.1.3, $\Theta^{\kappa} \equiv \Theta^{\kappa'} \mod p^{m+1}$ if and only if $\theta^{\kappa} \equiv \theta^{\kappa'} \mod p^{m+1}$. Then the statement follows from Proposition 5.2.4.

DEFINITION 5.2.7. We define a (symmetric) p-adic character to be a continuous group homomorphism $T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \mathbb{Z}_p^*$ that arises as the p-adic limit of the \mathbb{Z}_p -points of characters corresponding to (symmetric) weights.

Proposition 5.2.4 enables us to define by interpolation the differential operators θ^{χ} on \mathcal{R} for all symmetric p-adic characters χ . Note that in order to define θ^{χ} , one should only take the limit over θ^{κ} for weights κ that satisfy conditions (i) and (ii) of Proposition 5.2.4 (without loss of generality, one may also choose the weights κ such that $|\kappa|_{\infty} \to \infty$). These conditions can always be achieved by modifying the characters converging to χ if necessary.

The following result is then an immediate consequence of Theorem 5.2.6.

COROLLARY 5.2.8. For all symmetric p-adic characters χ , there exist p-adic differential operators

$$\Theta^\chi: V^N \to V^N$$

interpolating the p-adic κ_i -differential operators previously defined for classical weights κ_i , and satisfying the following proerties:

- 1. for all $f \in V^N$: $loc_x \circ \Theta^{\chi}(f) = \theta^{\chi} \circ loc_x(f)$,
- 2. for all p-adic characters $\chi' : \Theta^{\chi}(V^N[\chi']) \subset V^N[\chi' \cdot \chi]$.

5.2.2 Polynomials ϕ_{κ}

The remainder of this section introduces some notation and results needed in Section 7.

DEFINITION 5.2.9. For each sum-symmetric weight κ , there is a unique polynomial ϕ_{κ} with integer coefficients such that for all polynomials $f(\underline{t}) \in \mathcal{R} = \mathbb{W}[[\underline{t}]]$, if we write $f(\underline{t}) = \sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha} (1 + \underline{t})^{\alpha}$ in the notation of Remark 5.2.3, then

$$(\theta^{\kappa} f)(\underline{t}) = \sum_{\alpha} \phi_{\kappa}(\alpha) c_{\alpha} (1 + \underline{t})^{\alpha}.$$

From the description of the action of the differential operators described in Equation (25) together with Equation (21), we deduce the following corollary of the proof of Proposition 5.2.4.

Corollary 5.2.10. Let κ be a sum-symmetric weight. Then

$$\phi_{\kappa}(\alpha) = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma} \left(\left(a_{+\tau}! \cdot m_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau}(\alpha) \right)^{\kappa_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau}} \prod_{i=1}^{a_{+\tau}-1} \left(i! \cdot m_{i}^{\tau}(\alpha) \right)^{\kappa_{i}^{\tau} - \kappa_{i+1}^{\tau}} \right)$$

where $m_i^{\tau}(\alpha)$ is (a determinant of) an $i \times i$ minor of the matrix α , for each i, $1 \le i \le a_{+\tau}$, and $\tau \in \Sigma$.

Remark 5.2.11. Let κ and κ' be two sum-symmetric weights satisfying the conditions of Proposition 5.2.4. Then

$$\phi_{\kappa}(\alpha) \equiv \phi_{\kappa'}(\alpha) \bmod p^{m+1}$$
.

We extend the definition of the polynomials ϕ_{κ} as follows. We write $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p}$ for the ring of integers of \mathbb{C}_p , the completion of an algebraic closure of \mathbb{Q}_p .

DEFINITION 5.2.12. Let $\zeta: T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p}^*$ be any continuous group homomorphism. We write $\zeta = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma} \left(\prod_{i=1}^n \zeta_i^\tau \cdot \varepsilon_i^\tau \right)$, where the ζ_i^τ are continuous group homomorphisms $\mathbb{Z}_p^* \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p}^*$ (possibly including finite order characters). We define

$$\phi_{\zeta}(\alpha) \coloneqq \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma} \left(\left(\zeta_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau} \left(a_{+\tau}! \cdot m_{a_{+\tau}}^{\tau}(\alpha) \right) \right) \prod_{i=1}^{a_{+\tau}-1} \left(\zeta_{i}^{\tau} \cdot \left(\zeta_{i+1}^{\tau} \right)^{-1} \right) (i! \cdot m_{i}^{\tau}(\alpha)) \right), \quad (27)$$

where the $m_i^{\tau}(\alpha)$ are as in Corollary 5.2.10.

Remark 5.2.13. It follows from the defintion that, if $\zeta, \zeta' : T(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p}^*$ are two continuous group homomorphisms satisfying $\zeta \equiv \zeta' \mod p^{m+1}$, then $\phi_{\zeta}(\alpha) \equiv \phi_{\zeta'}(\alpha) \mod p^{m+1}$.

6 Pullbacks

In this section, we discuss the composition of the differential operators with pullbacks to a smaller group. This construction is similar to the one in [Eis16, Section 3]. We further describe the action in terms of Serre–Tate coordinates

(which are absent from [Eis16]), and then we obtain formulas (in terms of Serre–Tate coordinates) in the case of *all* signatures. (Using q-expansions, [Eis16] had only obtained formulas when the signature at each archimedean place was one of just two possibilities.) This section builds on [CEF⁺16, Section 6], which provides details about pullbacks of automorphic forms in terms of Serre–Tate coordinates.

6.1 Pullback and restriction of automorphic forms

We start by introducing the required notation. Let $L = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{s} W_i$ be a self-dual \mathcal{O}_K -linear decomposition of the free \mathbb{Z} -module L. For each $i, 1 \leq i \leq s$, we denote by \langle, \rangle_i the pairing on W_i induced by \langle, \rangle on L, and define $GU_i = GU(W_i, \langle, \rangle_i)$, a unitary group of signature $\left(a_{+\tau}^{(i)}, a_{-\tau}^{(i)}\right)_{\tau \in \Sigma_K}$. We write $\nu_i : GU_i \to \mathbb{G}_m$ for the similitude factor. Note that the signatures $\left(a_{+\tau}^{(i)}, a_{-\tau}^{(i)}\right)_{i=1,\dots,s}$ form a partition of the signature $(a_{+\tau}, a_{-\tau})$. We define $G' := \nu_0^{-1}(\mathbb{G}_m) \subset \prod_i GU_i$, where $\nu_0 := \prod_i \nu_i$, and $\mathbb{G}_m \subset \mathbb{G}_m^s$ is embedded diagonally. Then, there is a canonical injective homomorphism $G' \to GU$, which induces a map ϕ between the associated moduli spaces, $\phi : \mathcal{M}' \to \mathcal{M}$. Let \mathcal{S}' be a connected component of $\mathcal{M}'_{\mathbb{W}}$. We can identify \mathcal{S}' with the cartesian product of connected components of the smaller unitary Shimura varieties. We write \mathcal{S} for the unique connected component of $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{W}}$ containing the image of \mathcal{S}' , and we still denote by $\phi : \mathcal{S}' \to \mathcal{S}$ the restriction of ϕ .

We assume the prime p splits completely over each of the reflex fields E_i , i = 1, ..., s, associated with the smaller Shimura varieties, and let $\phi : \mathcal{S}^{'\text{ord}} \to \mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}}$ also denote the restriction of ϕ to the ordinary loci. We denote respectively by Ig', Ig the Igusa towers over $\mathcal{S}^{'\text{ord}}$, \mathcal{S}^{ord} , and define

$$H' = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma, 1 \leq i \leq s} \operatorname{GL}_{a_{+}_{\tilde{\tau}}^{(i)}} \times \operatorname{GL}_{a_{-}_{\tilde{\tau}}^{(i)}}.$$

We also write $H' = \prod_{1 \leq i \leq s} H_i$, where $H_i = \prod_{\tau \in \Sigma} \operatorname{GL}_{a_{\tau}(i)} \times \operatorname{GL}_{a_{\tau}(i)}$, for all $i = 1, \ldots, s$. The algebraic group H' can be identified over \mathbb{Z}_p with a Levi subgroup of $G' \cap U$. Thus we have a closed immersion $H' \to H$ arising from the inclusion of G' into GU and the identification over \mathbb{Z}_p of H with a Levi subgroup of U. This allows us (by choosing without loss of generality a suitable basis) to identify the maximal torus T of H with a maximal torus T' in H'. In the following, we denote by $X(T')_+$ the set of the weights in X(T') = X(T) that are dominant with respect to the roots of Δ that belong to the root system of H'. We also write $V'^{N'}$ for the space of p-adic automorphic forms on H'.

6.1.1 Pullbacks

In [CEF⁺16, Proposition 6.2] we observed that the map $\phi : \mathcal{S}'^{\text{ord}} \to \mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}}$ lifts canonically to a map between the Igusa covers, $\Phi : \text{Ig}' \to \text{Ig}$. As a consequence,

we are able to explicitly describe the pullback $\phi^*: V^N \to {V'}^{N'}$ in the Serre–Tate coordinates associated with a point $x \in \operatorname{Ig}'(\mathbb{W})$ (and $\Phi(x) \in \operatorname{Ig}(\mathbb{W})$). To recall the result we first establish some notation. For each $\tau \in \Sigma$, we denote by $\mathcal{L}^{\pm}_{\tau} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{s} \mathfrak{L}^{\pm}_{i,\tau}$ the associated \mathbb{Z}_p -linear decompositions of the modules \mathcal{L}^{\pm}_{τ} (arising from the signature partition). We define $\mathfrak{L}^2 := \bigoplus_i \mathfrak{L}^2_i$, where for each $i = 1, \ldots, s$

$$\mathfrak{L}_{i}^{2}\coloneqq\bigoplus_{ au\in\Sigma}(\mathfrak{L}_{i, au}^{+}\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}}\mathfrak{L}_{i, au}^{-}).$$

In the following we denote by $\epsilon: \mathcal{L}^2 \to \mathcal{L}^2$ the natural inclusion as a direct summand.

We fix a point $x \in \operatorname{Ig}'(\mathbb{W})$, and we write $x_0 \in \mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{W})$ for the point below x (thus the point $\Phi(x) \in \operatorname{Ig}(\mathbb{W})$ is above $\phi(x_0) \in \mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{W})$). Following the notation of Section 2.7.1, we write

$$\begin{split} \beta^*_{\Phi(x)} &: \mathbb{W}[[t]] \otimes (\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee} \quad \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \quad \mathcal{R} \coloneqq \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ord}}, \phi(x_0)}, \text{ and} \\ \beta^*_x &: \mathbb{W}[[t]] \otimes (\mathcal{L}^2)^{\vee} \quad \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \quad \mathcal{R}' = \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{S}'^{\mathrm{ord}}, x_0}, \end{split}$$

for the corresponding Serre–Tate isomorphisms of complete local rings.

In [CEF⁺16, Proposition 6.8], we prove that the ring homomorphism $\phi^* : \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}'$ induced by the map $\phi : \mathcal{S}'^{\text{ord}} \to \mathcal{S}^{\text{ord}}$ satisfies the equality

$$\phi^* \circ \beta_{\Phi(x)}^* = \beta_x^* \circ (\mathrm{id} \otimes \epsilon^{\vee}). \tag{28}$$

Remark 6.1.1. For a choice of compatible bases $\mathfrak{F} \subset \mathfrak{E}$ of $\mathfrak{L}^2 \subset \mathcal{L}^2$, the pullback map on local rings $\mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}'$ described on coordinates as

$$\mathrm{id} \otimes \epsilon^{\vee} : \mathbb{W}[[t]] \otimes (\mathcal{L}^{2})^{\vee} = \mathbb{W}[[t_{l} | l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]] \longrightarrow \mathbb{W}[[t]] \otimes (\mathcal{L}^{2})^{\vee} = \mathbb{W}[[t_{l} | l \in \mathfrak{F}^{\vee}]]$$

satisfies the equalities

$$(\operatorname{id} \otimes \epsilon^{\vee})(t_l) = \begin{cases} t_l & \text{if } l \in \mathfrak{F}^{\vee} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \quad \text{for all } l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}.$$

In the following, with abuse of notations, we will identify $\mathcal{R}' \simeq \mathbb{W}[[t_l | l \in \mathfrak{F}^{\vee}]]$ via β_x^* , and $\mathcal{R} \simeq \mathbb{W}[[t_l | l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]]$ via $\beta_{\Phi(x)}^*$.

6.1.2 Restrictions of p-adic automorphic forms

Finally, we recall the definition of restriction on the space of p-adic automorphic forms.

Let κ, κ' be two characters of the torus T' = T. Assume $\kappa \in X(T)_+$, and $\kappa' \in X(T')_+$; i.e., κ is dominant for H, and κ' is dominant for H'. We say that κ' contributes to κ if $\rho_{\kappa'}$ is a quotient of the restriction of ρ_{κ} from H to H'.

In the following, we denote by $\varpi_{\kappa,\kappa'}: \rho_{\kappa}|_{H'} \to \rho_{\kappa'}$ a projection of $H'_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ representations. If $\kappa' \in X(T')_+$ satisfies $(\kappa')^{\sigma} = \kappa$ for some $\sigma \in W_H(T)$, then κ' contributes to κ and we choose $\varpi_{\kappa,\kappa'}: \rho_{\kappa}|_{H'} \to \rho_{\kappa'}$ to be the projection of $H'_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ -representations satisfying the equality

$$\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} = \ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa'} \circ \varpi_{\kappa,\kappa'} \circ g_{\sigma},$$

where $g_{\sigma} \in N_H(T)(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ is the elementary matrix lifting σ (and $N_H(T)$ denotes the normalizer of T in H).

Remark 6.1.2. If κ is a dominant weight of H, then κ is also dominant for H' and as a weight of H' it contributes to κ .

Remark 6.1.3. Assume κ' is a weight of H' contributing to a weight κ of H. Then, for each weight λ of H, the weight $\lambda \cdot \kappa'$ of H' contributes to $\lambda \cdot \kappa$.

For each $\kappa \in X(T)_+$, let $\phi^* \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}$ denote the pullback over \mathcal{M}' of the automorphic sheaf over \mathcal{M} . To avoid confusion, we will denote by $\mathcal{E}'_{\kappa'}$ the automorphic sheaf of weight κ' over \mathcal{M}' , for $\kappa' \in X(T')_+$. For each weight $\kappa' \in X(T')_+$ contributing to κ , the morphism $\varpi_{\kappa,\kappa'}$ induces a morphism of sheaves over \mathcal{M}' ,

$$r_{\kappa,\kappa'}:\phi^*\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}\to\mathcal{E}'_{\kappa'}.$$

We define the (κ, κ') -restriction on automorphic forms to be the map of global sections

$$\operatorname{res}_{\kappa,\kappa'} := r_{\kappa,\kappa'} \circ \phi^* : H^0(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}) \to H^0(\mathcal{M}', \mathcal{E}'_{\kappa'}).$$

By abuse of notation we will still denote by $\operatorname{res}_{\kappa,\kappa'}$ the map induced by $\operatorname{res}_{\kappa,\kappa'}$ between the spaces of sections of automorphic sheaves over the ordinary loci, i.e.

$$\operatorname{res}_{\kappa,\kappa'}: H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}},\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}) \to H^0(\mathcal{S}^{'\operatorname{ord}},\mathcal{E}'_{\kappa'}).$$

In the following, we write $res_{\kappa} := res_{\kappa,\kappa}$.

Finally, we define the *restriction* on *p*-adic automorphic forms as the pullback on global functions on the Igusa tower under $\Phi : \operatorname{Ig}' \to \operatorname{Ig}$, i.e.

$$res := \Phi^* : V^N \to {V'}^{N'}.$$

In [CEF⁺16, Propositions 6.5 and 6.6], we compare the two notions of restriction. Again, to avoid confusion, for all weights $\kappa' \in X(T')_+$, we denote by $\Psi'_{\kappa'}$ the inclusion $H^0(\mathcal{S}'^{\operatorname{ord}}, \mathcal{E}'_{\kappa'}) \to {V'}^{N'}$, to distinguish it from the inclusion $\Psi_{\kappa}: H^0(\mathcal{S}^{\operatorname{ord}}, \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}) \to V^N$ for $\kappa \in X(T)_+$.

Then, for all dominant weights $\kappa \in X(T)_+$,

$$res \circ \Psi_{\kappa} = \Psi_{\kappa}' \circ res_{\kappa}. \tag{29}$$

More generally, if $\kappa' \in X(T')_+$ satisfies $(\kappa')^{\sigma} = \kappa$ for some $\sigma \in W_H(T)$, then

$$\Psi_{\kappa'}' \circ \operatorname{res}_{\kappa,\kappa'} = \operatorname{res} \circ (g_{\sigma} \cdot \Psi_{\kappa}). \tag{30}$$

for $g_{\sigma} \in N_H(T)(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ lifting σ as above.

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 22 (2017) 1–1000

6.2 Pullbacks and differential operators

Let $\lambda \in X(T) = X(T')$. It follows from Definitions 2.4.3 and 2.4.4 that if λ is (sum-)symmetric for H' and dominant for H, then it is also (sum-)symmetric for H, while the converse is false in general. In the following, we say that a weight of H is H'-(sum-)symmetric if it is (sum-)symmetric for H'. Similarly, we say that a p-adic character of H is H'-symmetric if it arises as the p-adic limit of H'-symmetric weights.

For any weight (resp. p-adic character) λ of H', and for all $i=1,\ldots,s$, we write $\lambda_i := \lambda_{|H_i}$ for the restriction of λ to $H_i \subset H'$. Then, for each i, λ_i is a weight (resp. p-adic character) of H_i . We observe that a weight λ is dominant (resp. sum-symmetric) for H' if and only if, for each $i=1,\ldots,s$, the weight λ_i is dominant (resp. sum-symmetric) for H_i . Furthemore, if, for each $i=1,\ldots,s$, λ_i is sum-symmetric for H_i of depth e_i , then λ is sum-symmetric for H of depth $e = \sum e_i$ if it is dominant.

DEFINITION 6.2.1. A sum-symmetric weight λ of H' of depth e is called *pure* if there exists $i \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ such that λ_i is sum-symmetric of depth e. Equivalently, a weight λ is pure sum-symmetric if there exists $i \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ such that λ_j is trivial for all $j \neq i$ and is sum-symmetric for j = i.

Similarly, a symmetric *p*-adic character χ of H' is called *pure* if there exists $i \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ such that $\chi_j := \chi_{|H_j|}$ is trivial for all $j \neq i$ and symmetric for j = i.

Remark 6.2.2. If a sum-symmetric weight λ of H' is pure, of depth e, then the associated irreducible representation ρ_{λ} of $H'_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ is a quotient of $(\mathfrak{L}_i^2)^{\otimes e}$, for some $i \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ (where $\bigoplus_i (\mathfrak{L}_i^2)^{\otimes e}$ is by definition a direct summand of $(\mathfrak{L}^2)^{\otimes e}$).

In the following, we say that a weight (resp. p-adic character) of H is pure H'-sum-symmetric if it is a pure sum-symmetric for H'.

Note that if λ is pure H'-sum-symmetric, with λ_i non-trivial of depth e, then λ is sum-symmetric of H also of depth e, if it is dominant (see Remark 6.2.5).

Remark 6.2.3. A weight λ of H is both dominant for H and pure H'-sum-symmetric if and only if λ_1 is sum-symmetric for H_1 and λ_j is trivial for all i > 1

Similarly, a p-adic character χ of H is both pure and H'-symmetric if and only if χ_1 is a p-adic symmetric character of H_1 and χ_j is trivial for all j > 1.

For each H'-sum-symmetric weight λ of H and positive dominant weight κ' of H', we write

$$\mathcal{D}^{\lambda}_{\kappa'}: H^0(\mathcal{S}^{'\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}'_{\kappa'}) \to H^0(\mathcal{S}^{'\mathrm{ord}}, \mathcal{E}'_{\lambda \cdot \kappa'}),$$

for the associated differential operators on the automorphic forms of weight κ' .

For each H'-symmetric p-adic character χ of H, we write

$$\Theta^{'\chi}: {V'}^{N'} \to {V'}^{N'}$$

DOCUMENTA MATHEMATICA 22 (2017) 1-1000

for the corresponding operator on the space of p-adic automorphic forms (as in Theorem 5.1.3).

PROPOSITION 6.2.4. For all pure H'-symmetric p-adic characters χ of H that are H-symmetric

$$\operatorname{res} \circ \Theta^{\chi} = \Theta'^{\chi} \circ \operatorname{res}$$
.

Proof. By the t-expansion principle, it suffices to verify the above equality after localizing at an ordinary point, i.e. as an equality of operators on t-expansions. Moreover, by Theorem 5.2.6, it is enough to consider the case when χ has integral weight λ .

In view of Remark 6.1.1 (together with the formulas in Lemmas 5.1.2 and 5.2.2), the statement is a consequence of the assumptions on λ (which imply that the coefficients $a_{\lambda,\underline{l}}$ defined in Remark 5.2.1 satisfy $a_{\lambda,\underline{l}}=0$ for all $\underline{l}\in\mathfrak{E}_e^\vee-\mathfrak{F}_e^\vee$) together with the following general fact. For all positive integers $n,m\in\mathbb{N},$ $n\geq m$, the homomorphism of W-algebras $\mathbb{W}[[t_1,\ldots,t_n]]\to\mathbb{W}[[t_1,\ldots,t_m]]$ defined as

$$f = f(t_1, \dots, t_n) \mapsto f(t, 0) := f(t_1, \dots, t_m, 0, \dots 0)$$

satisfies the equalities

$$(1+t_i)\frac{\partial}{\partial t_i}(f(t,0)) = ((1+t_i)\frac{\partial}{\partial t_i}f)(t,0),$$

for all $i = 1, \ldots, m$.

Remark 6.2.5. As an example, we consider the partition (1,1),(1,1) of the signature (2,2), and weights $\lambda=(2,0,2,0)$ and $\lambda'=(1,1,1,1)$. Note that both λ,λ' are dominant symmetric weights of both $H=GL(2)\times GL(2)$ and $H'=GL(1)\times GL(1)\times GL(1)\times GL(1)$, but only λ is H'-pure. Write $\Phi^*:\mathcal{R}\simeq \mathbb{W}[[t_{1,3},t_{1,4},t_{2,3},t_{2,4}]]\to \mathcal{R}'\simeq \mathbb{W}[[T_{1,3},T_{2,4}]]$ for the map of complete local rings at an ordinary point corresponding to the inclusion of Igusa varieties. With our notations, $\Phi^*(t_{i,j})=T_{i,j}$ for (i,j)=(1,3),(2,4) and 0 otherwise. If we compute the associated differential operators θ^λ and $\theta^{\lambda'}$ of \mathcal{R} , we obtain $\theta^\lambda=(\theta_{1,3})^2$ and $\theta^{\lambda'}=\theta_{1,3}\theta_{2,4}-\theta_{1,4}\theta_{2,3}$. If instead we compute the associated differential operators θ'^λ and $\theta'^{\lambda'}$ on \mathcal{R}' , we obtain $\theta'^\lambda=(\theta'_{1,3})^2$ and $\theta'^{\lambda'}=\theta'_{1,3}\theta'_{2,4}$. It is easy to check that as maps on \mathcal{R}' $\theta'^\lambda\circ\Phi^*=\Phi^*\circ\theta^\lambda$ but $\theta'^{\lambda'}\circ\Phi^*\neq\Phi'^*\circ\theta^{\lambda'}$. An explanation comes from the fact that the weight λ has depth 2 for both H and H', while λ' should be regarded as of depth 2 for H and 1 for H'.

We now consider the case of a pure symmetric p-adic character χ of H', which is not a symmetric p-adic character of H (i.e., of χ arising as the p-adic limit of pure symmetric weights which are dominant for H' but not for H). For such p-adic characters we have already defined a differential operator on automorphic forms on H' but not on H, Proposition 6.2.6 explains how to extend it to H.

Note that for any weight λ of H', there is a unique weight λ_0 which is dominant for H and conjugate to λ under the action of the Weyl group $W_H(T)$, i.e. $\lambda_0 = \lambda^\sigma$ for some $\sigma \in W_H(T)$. If λ is a (sum-)symmetric weight of H', then λ_0 is a (sum-)symmetric weight of H. Furthermore, if λ is pure sum-symmetric for H', then the permutation $\sigma \in W_H(T)$ can be chosen to arise from a permutation of $\{1,\ldots,s\}$. More precisely, if $i \in \{1,\ldots,s\}$ is such that λ_j is trivial for all $j \neq i$, then we can choose $\sigma = \sigma_{(1i)}$ to correspond to the permutation (1i). (Here, for each permutation γ on $\{1,\ldots,s\}$, we define σ_γ to be the element of $W_H(T)$ induced by the action of γ on the partition $\{(a_{+\tau}^{(j)}, a_{-\tau}^{(j)})_{\tau \in \Sigma} | j = 1,\ldots,s\}$ of the signature $(a_{+\tau}, a_{-\tau})_{\tau \in \Sigma}$.) In particular, we observe that λ_0 is pure sumsymmetric for the subgroup $H'_{\sigma} := \prod_{1 \leq j \leq s} H_{\gamma(j)}$ of H, for $\gamma = (1i)$.

PROPOSITION 6.2.6. For all pure symmetric p-adic characters χ of H', let $\sigma = \sigma_{(1i)}$, for $i \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ such that χ_j is trivial for all $j \neq i$. Then χ^{σ} is a symmetric p-adic character of H and

$$\Theta'^{\chi} \circ \text{res} = \text{res} \circ (g_{\sigma} \circ \Theta^{\chi^{\sigma}} \circ g_{\sigma}^{-1}).$$

Proof. As in the proof of Proposition 6.2.4, we use Theorem 5.2.6 to reduce to the case when χ has integral weight λ , and by the t-expansion principle it suffices to establish the equality after localization at a point x of the smaller Igusa tower Ig'. For all $f \in V^N$, on one side we have

$$(\Theta^{'\lambda} \circ \operatorname{res})(f)_x(t) = \theta^{'\lambda}(\operatorname{res}(f)_x(t)) = \theta^{'\lambda} \circ \Phi^*(f_{\Phi(x)}(t)),$$

and on the other

$$(\operatorname{res} \circ (g_{\sigma} \circ \Theta^{\lambda^{\sigma}} \circ g_{\sigma}^{-1}))(f)_{x}(t) = \Phi^{*}((g_{\sigma} \circ \Theta^{\lambda^{\sigma}} \circ g_{\sigma}^{-1})(f)_{\Phi(x)}(t))$$

$$= (\Phi^{*} \circ g_{\sigma})((\Theta^{\lambda^{\sigma}} \circ g_{\sigma}^{-1})(f)_{\Phi(x)^{g_{\sigma}}}(t))$$

$$= (\Phi^{*} \circ g_{\sigma} \circ \theta^{\lambda^{\sigma}})((g_{\sigma}^{-1})(f)_{\Phi(x)^{g_{\sigma}}}(t))$$

$$= (\Phi^{*} \circ g_{\sigma} \circ \theta^{\lambda^{\sigma}} \circ g_{\sigma}^{-1})((f)_{\Phi(x)}(t)).$$

Thus, we have reduced the statement to an equality of two maps $\mathcal{R} \simeq \mathbb{W}[[t_l|l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]] \to \mathcal{R}' \simeq \mathbb{W}[[t_l|l \in \mathfrak{F}^{\vee}]]$, i.e.

$$\boldsymbol{\theta}^{'\boldsymbol{\lambda}} \circ \boldsymbol{\Phi}^* = \boldsymbol{\Phi}^* \circ g_{\sigma} \circ \boldsymbol{\theta}^{\boldsymbol{\lambda}^{\sigma}} \circ g_{\sigma}^{-1},$$

where $\Phi^* = \mathrm{id} \otimes \epsilon^{\vee}$ is the map on complete local rings corresponding to the map Φ between Igusa varieties described in Remark 6.1.1. Recall that the action of g_{σ} on $\mathbb{W}[[t_l|l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}]]$ is given by the formula $g_{\sigma}(t_l) = t_{\sigma(l)}$ for all $l \in \mathfrak{E}^{\vee}$. Write $\theta^{\lambda^{\sigma}} = \sum_{\underline{l} \in \mathfrak{E}_{\underline{e}}^{\vee}} a_{\kappa,\underline{l}} \cdot \theta^{\underline{d}(\underline{l})}$ and define $\theta^{\lambda} := \sum_{\underline{l} \in \mathfrak{E}_{\underline{e}}^{\vee}} a_{\kappa,\underline{l}} \cdot \theta^{\underline{d}(\sigma(\underline{l}))}$ (note that here λ is possibly not dominant for H). Then, on the right hand side, we have

$$\Phi^* \circ g_\sigma \circ \theta^{\lambda^\sigma} \circ g_\sigma^{-1} = \Phi^* \circ \theta^\lambda \circ g_\sigma \circ g_\sigma^{-1} = \Phi^* \circ \theta^\lambda.$$

Finally, the same computation as in the proof of Proposition 6.2.4 implies $\theta'^{\lambda} \circ \Phi^* = \Phi^* \circ \theta^{\lambda}$.

Remark 6.2.7. Given a pure H'-(sum)-symmetric dominant weight λ of H, Proposition 6.2.4 together with Equation (29) imply the equality

$$\operatorname{res}_{\lambda \cdot \kappa} \circ D_{\kappa}^{\lambda} = \mathcal{D}_{\kappa}^{\lambda} \circ \operatorname{res}_{\kappa},$$

for all positive dominant weights κ of H. In fact, the same argument, combined with Equation (30), also proves

$$\operatorname{res}_{\lambda \cdot \kappa, \lambda \cdot \kappa'} \circ D_{\kappa}^{\lambda} = \mathcal{D}_{\kappa'}^{\lambda} \circ \operatorname{res}_{\kappa, \kappa'},$$

for all dominat weights κ of H, and κ' of H', such that $(\kappa')^{\sigma} = \kappa$ for some $\sigma \in W_H(T)$, assuming $\lambda^{\sigma} = \lambda$. Similarly, given a pure sum-symmetric weight λ of H', if $i \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ is such that $\lambda_0 = \lambda^{\sigma_{(1i)}}$ is a (sum-symmetric) dominant weight of H, then Proposition 6.2.6 and Equation (30) together imply that

$$\operatorname{res}_{\lambda_0 \cdot \kappa, \lambda \cdot \kappa} \circ D_{\kappa}^{\lambda_0} \circ g_{\sigma}^{-1} = \mathcal{D}_{\kappa}^{\lambda} \circ \operatorname{res}_{\kappa},$$

for all positive dominant weights κ of H, satisfying $\kappa^{\sigma_{(1i)}} = \kappa$.

Remark 6.2.8. Let $\kappa, \kappa', \lambda, \lambda_0$ and $\sigma, \sigma_{(1i)}$ be as above. The choice of projection $\varpi_{\kappa,\kappa'}: \rho_{\kappa}|_{H'} \to \rho_{\kappa'}$, satisfying $\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa} = \ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\kappa'} \circ \varpi_{\kappa,\kappa'} \circ g_{\sigma}$, uniquely determines one quotient of $\rho_{\kappa}|_{H'}$ of weight κ' , even when the multiplicity of the $H'_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ -representation $\rho_{\kappa'}$ in $\rho_{\kappa}|_{H'}$ (by which we mean the rank of $\operatorname{Hom}_{H'_{\mathbb{Z}_p}}(\rho_{\kappa}|_{H'},\rho_{\kappa'})$) is larger than 1. For a general λ , the multiplicities of $\rho_{\lambda\kappa'}$ in $\rho_{\lambda\kappa}|_{H'}$ and of $\rho_{\kappa'}$ in $\rho_{\kappa}|_{H'}$ (resp. of $\rho_{\lambda_0\kappa}$ in $\rho_{\lambda\kappa}|_{H'}$ and of ρ_{κ} in $\rho_{\kappa}|_{H'}$) might not agree. However, our (uniform) choice of projections ensures the compatibility of the resulting restrictions of automorphic forms with the differential operators.

7 p-adic families of automorphic forms

In this section, we construct p-adic families of automorphic forms on unitary groups. To construct the families, we apply the differential operators introduced above to the Eisenstein series constructed in [Eis14, Eis15] and then apply Theorem 5.2.6. We also construct a p-adic measure by applying the description of the differential operators in Section 5.2.1 (especially Equation (27)).

7.1 Prior results on families for signature (n,n)

We begin by recalling the Eisenstein series in [Eis14], which include the Eisenstein series in [Kat78, Eis15] as special cases. Similarly to the notation in [Eis14], for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\nu = (\nu(\sigma))_{\sigma \in \Sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}^{\Sigma}$, we denote by $\mathbf{N}_{k,\nu}$ the function

$$\mathbf{N}_{k,\nu}: K^{\times} \to K^{\times} \qquad b \mapsto \prod_{\sigma \in \Sigma} \sigma(b)^k \left(\frac{\sigma(b)}{\overline{\sigma}(b)}\right)^{\nu(\sigma)}.$$

Note that for all $b \in \mathcal{O}_{K^+}^{\times}$, $\mathbf{N}_{k,\nu}(b) = \mathbf{N}_{K^+/\mathbb{O}}(b)^k$.

The theorem below gives explicit q-expansions of automorphic forms. Note that as explained in [Hid04, Section 8.4], to apply the p-adic q-expansion principle in the case of a unitary group U(n,n) of signature (n,n) at each place (for some integer n), it is enough to check the cusps parametrized by points of GM_+ (\mathbb{A}_{K^+}), where GM_+ denotes a certain Levi subgroup of U(n,n). (More details about cusps appear in [Hid04, Chapter 8] and, as a summary, in [Eis14]; we will not need the details here.)

THEOREM 7.1.1 (Theorem 2 in [Eis14]). Let R be an \mathcal{O}_K -algebra, let $\nu = (\nu(\sigma)) \in \mathbb{Z}^{\Sigma}$, and let $k \geq n$ be an integer. Let

$$F: (\mathcal{O}_K \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p) \times M_{n \times n} (\mathcal{O}_{K^+} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p) \to R$$

be a locally constant function supported on $(\mathcal{O}_K \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)^{\times} \times GL_n(\mathcal{O}_{K^+} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)$ that satisfies

$$F\left(ex, \mathbf{N}_{K/E}(e^{-1})y\right) = \mathbf{N}_{k,\nu}(e)F\left(x, y\right) \tag{31}$$

for all $e \in \mathcal{O}_K^{\times}$, $x \in \mathcal{O}_K \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p$, and $y \in M_{n \times n}$ ($\mathcal{O}_{K^+} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p$). There is an automorphic form $G_{k,\nu,F}$ of parallel weight k on GU(n,n) defined over R whose q-expansion at a cusp $m \in GM_+(\mathbb{A}_{K^+})$ is of the form $\sum_{0 < \alpha \in L_m} c(\alpha)q^{\alpha}$ (where L_m is a lattice in $\operatorname{Herm}_n(K)$ determined by m), with $c(\alpha)$ a finite \mathbb{Z} -linear combination of terms of the form

$$F(a, \mathbf{N}_{K/E}(a)^{-1}\alpha)\mathbf{N}_{k,\nu}(a^{-1}\det\alpha)\mathbf{N}_{E/\mathbb{Q}}(\det\alpha)^{-n}$$

(where the linear combination is a sum over a finite set of p-adic units $a \in K$ dependent upon α and the choice of cusp m).

Let (R, ι_{∞}) consist of an $\mathcal{O}_{E',(p)}$ -algebra R together with a ring inclusion ι_{∞} : $R \to \mathbb{C}$. Given an automorphic form f defined over R, we view f as a p-adic automorphic form via Ψ or as a C^{∞} -automorphic form after extending scalars via $\iota_{\infty} : R \to \mathbb{C}$.

Remark 7.1.2. The C^{∞} -automorphic forms $G_{k,\nu,F}$ are closely related to the C^{∞} -Eisenstein series studied by Shimura in [Shi97]; the difference between Shimura's Eisenstein series and these ones is the choice of certain data at p, which allows one to put $G_{k,\nu,F}$ into a p-adic family. For $R=\mathbb{C}$, these are the Fourier coefficients at $s=\frac{k}{2}$ of certain C^{∞} -automorphic forms $G_{k,\nu,F}$ (z,s) (holomorphic in z at $s=\frac{k}{2}$) of parallel weight k defined in [Eis14, Lemma 9]. We do not need further details about those C^{∞} -Eisenstein series for the present paper.

7.2 Families for arbitrary signature

We use the notations introduced in Section 6.1, with GU = GU(n, n) and G' of arbitrary signature. In particular, we still denote by H and H' the associated Levi subgroups.

For each symmetric weight κ of H', we define an automorphic form of weight $\underline{k} + \kappa$ for G'

$$G_{k,\nu,F,\kappa} := \Theta^{\kappa} \operatorname{res}_k G_{k,\nu,F},$$

where $\operatorname{res}_{\underline{k}}$ is the restriction on automorphic forms from GU(n,n) to G', (i.e. the pullback followed by projection onto an irreducible quotient) as introduced in Section 6.1.

Remark 7.2.1. Proposition 6.2.4 implies that if the weight κ is pure H'symmetric and H-symmetric, then the automorphic form $G_{k,\nu,F,\kappa}$ agrees with
res $\Theta^{\kappa}G_{k,\nu,F}$, the restriction to G' of the form $\Theta^{\kappa}G_{k,\nu,F}$ for U(n,n).

As an immediate consequence of Theorem 5.2.6 and Remark 6.1.1 applied to $\operatorname{res}_k G_{k,\nu,F}$, we obtain the following result.

Theorem 7.2.2. Let κ and κ' be two symmetric weights satisfying the conditions of Proposition 5.2.6. Then $G_{k,\nu,F,\kappa} \equiv G_{k,\nu,F,\kappa'}$ inside $V'^{N'}/p^{m+1}V'^{N'}$.

Proposition 7.2.3 below summarizes the relationship between the values at CM points (together with a choice of trivialization) of the p-adic automorphic forms obtained by applying p-adic differential operators to $\operatorname{res}_{\underline{k}}G_{k,\nu,F}$ and the values of C^{∞} automorphic forms obtained by applying C^{∞} differential operators to $\operatorname{res}_{\underline{k}}G_{k,\nu,F}$.

PROPOSITION 7.2.3. For each locally constant function F as in Theorem 7.1.1, the values of $G_{k,\nu,F,\kappa}$ and $\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{k\cdot\kappa} \circ D_{\underline{k}}^{\kappa}(C^{\infty})\operatorname{res}_{\underline{k}}G_{k,\nu,F}$, where $\pi_{\kappa\cdot\underline{k}}^{\infty}$ denotes the projection onto an irreducible subspace of highest weight $\kappa\cdot\underline{k}$, agree at each ordinary CM point A over R (together with a choice of trivialization of $\underline{\omega}_A/R$) up to a period.

Thus, as a consequence of Theorem 7.2.2, we can p-adically interpolate the values of $\ell_{\operatorname{can}}^{\underline{k}\cdot\kappa} \circ \pi_{\kappa,\underline{k}}^{\infty} \circ D_{\underline{k}}^{\kappa}(C^{\infty})\operatorname{res}_{\underline{k}}G_{k,\nu,F}$ (modulo periods) at ordinary CM points as κ varies p-adically.

Proof. The proof is similar to [Kat78, Section 5], [Eis15, Section 3.0.1], and [Eis14, Section 5.1.1]. \Box

Let $\chi = \prod_w \chi_w$ be a Hecke character of type A_0 . We obtain a p-adically continuous character $\tilde{\chi}$ on X_p , where X_p denotes the projective limit of the ray class groups of K of conductor p^r , as follows. Let $\tilde{\chi}_{\infty} : (K \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ be the p-adically continuous character such that

$$\tilde{\chi}_{\infty}(a) = \iota_p \circ \chi_{\infty}(a)$$

for all $a \in K$. So the restriction of $\tilde{\chi}_{\infty}$ to $(\mathcal{O}_K \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)^{\times}$ is a p-adic character. We define a p-adic character $\tilde{\chi}$ on X_p by $\tilde{\chi}((a_w)) = \tilde{\chi}_{\infty}((a_w)_{w|p}) \prod_{w \nmid \infty} \chi_w(a_w)$.

For each character ζ on the torus T and for each type A_0 Hecke character $\chi = \chi_u |\cdot|^{-k/2}$ with χ_u unitary, we define $F_{\chi_u,\zeta}(x,y)$ on $(\mathcal{O}_K \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)^{\times} \times \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathcal{O}_{K^+} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)$ by $F_{\chi_u,\zeta}(x,y) := \chi_u(x)\phi_{\zeta}(\mathbf{N}_{K/E}(x)^t y)$ and extend by 0 to a function on $(\mathcal{O}_K \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p) \times M_{n \times n}(\mathcal{O}_{K^+} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)$, with ϕ_{ζ} defined as in Equation (27).

We now construct a certain p-adic measure.

THEOREM 7.2.4. There is a measure $\mu_{G'}$ (dependent on the signature of the group G') on $X_p \times T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ that takes values in the space of p-adic modular forms on G' and that satisfies

$$\int_{X_p \times T(\mathbb{Z}_p)} \tilde{\chi} \psi \kappa \mu_{G'} = \text{res}\Theta^{\kappa} G_{k,\nu,F_{\chi_u,\psi}}$$
(32)

for each finite order character ψ and H-symmetric weight κ on the torus T and for each type A_0 Hecke character $\chi = \chi_u |\cdot|^{-k/2}$ of infinity type $\prod_{\sigma \in \Sigma} \sigma^{-k} \left(\frac{\bar{\sigma}}{\sigma}\right)^{\nu(\sigma)}$ with χ_u unitary.

In particular, for κ pure H'-symmetric, we have

$$\int_{X_p \times T(\mathbb{Z}_p)} \tilde{\chi} \psi \kappa \mu_{G'} = G_{k,\nu,F_{\chi_u,\psi},\kappa}.$$

Equation (32) is analogous to [Kat78, Equations (5.5.7)], which concerns the case of an Eisenstein measure for Hilbert modular forms. Theorem 7.2.4 also extends the main results of [Eis15, Eis14] to arbitrary signature.

The idea of the proof is similar to the idea of the construction of analogous Eisenstein measures in [Kat78, Eis15], i.e. it relies on the p-adic q-expansion principle.

Proof. First, note that the measure $\mu_{G'}$ is uniquely determined by restricting to finite order characters on $X_p \times T(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ (by, for example, [Kat78, Proposition (4.1.2)]). Now, Equation (32) follows from the p-adic q-expansion principle ([Hid05, Corollary 10.4]), as follows: First, note that the p-adic q-expansion principle holds for all elements in $V_{\infty,\infty}$, not just those in V^N . Now we apply the differential operators from Section 3.3.2 to the automorphic form $G_{k,\nu,F_{\gamma_n,\psi}}$ on the general unitary group G of signature (n,n). So the resulting automorphic form takes values in a vector space that is a representation of H. We project the image onto an irreducible representation for H'. So the pullback of this automorphic form to G' is $\operatorname{res}\Theta^{\kappa}G_{k,\nu,F_{\chi_u,\psi}}$. Note that the action of differential operators on q-expansions is similar to the action on Serre-Tate expansions, with the parameter $(1+\underline{t})$ replaced by q. (In each case, it depends on the existence of a horizontal basis. See [Kat78, Corollary (2.6.25)] for the case of Hilbert modular forms, which is extended to unitary groups of signature (n, n)in [Eis12].) In particular, we see from Definition 5.2.9 and Corollary 5.2.10 that applying D_k^{κ} and then projecting the image onto a highest weight vector results in multiplying each q-expansion coefficient by the polynomial from Corollary 5.2.10. Equation (32) then follows immediately from Remark 5.2.11 together with the abstract Kummer congruences (see [Kat78, Proposition (4.0.6)]), i.e. the observation that for each integer m, whenever a linear combination of the values of the product of characters on the left hand side is $0 \mod p^m$, then the corresponding linear combination of q-expansions of the automorphic forms on the right hand side is also $0 \mod p^m$.

The statement for pure weights κ follows from Remark 7.2.1

8 Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Ana Caraiani very much for contributing to initial conversations about topics in this paper. We would also like to thank the referee for a careful reading and helpful suggestions.

E.E.'s research was partially supported by NSF Grants DMS-1249384 and DMS-1559609. J.F.'s research was partially supported by the Studienstiftung des deutschen Volkes. E.M.'s research was partially supported by NSF Grant DMS-1001077. I.V.'s research was partially supported by a National Defense Science and Engineering Fellowship and NSF Grant DMS-1502834.

References

- [AHR10] Matthew Ando, Michael Hopkins, and Charles Rezk, Multiplicative orientations of KO-theory and of the spectrum of topological modular forms, http://www.math.uiuc.edu/~mando/papers/koandtmf.pdf.
- [Beh09] Mark Behrens, *Eisenstein orientation*, Typed notes available at http://www-math.mit.edu/~mbehrens/other/coredump.pdf.
- [BH14] Ashay Burungale and Haruzo Hida, p-rigidity and Iwasawa μ-invariants, http://www.math.ucla.edu/~ashay/rigidity.pdf.
- [Bou14] Thanasis Bouganis, Non-abelian p-adic L-functions and Eisenstein series of unitary groups—the CM method, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 64 (2014), no. 2, 793–891. MR 3330923
- [Bro13] Ernest Hunter Brooks, Generalized Heegner cycles, Shimura curves, and special values of p-adic L-functions, 2013, Thesis (Ph.D.)—University of Michigan.
- [CEF⁺16] Ana Caraiani, Ellen Eischen, Jessica Fintzen, Elena Mantovan, and Ila Varma, *p-adic q-expansion principles on unitary Shimura varieties*, Directions in Number Theory, vol. 3, Springer International, 2016, pp. 197–243.

- [CF90] Ching-Li Chai and Gerd Faltings, Degeneration of abelian varieties, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], vol. 22, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990, With an appendix by David Mumford. MR MR1083353 (92d:14036)
- [CS74] J. Coates and W. Sinnott, On p-adic L-functions over real quadratic fields, Invent. Math. 25 (1974), 253–279. MR 0354615
- [DR80] Pierre Deligne and Kenneth A. Ribet, Values of abelian L-functions at negative integers over totally real fields, Invent. Math. 59 (1980), no. 3, 227–286. MR 579702 (81m:12019)
- [dSG16] Ehud de Shalit and Eyal Z. Goren, A theta operator on Picard modular forms modulo an inert prime, Res. Math. Sci. 3 (2016), Paper No. 28, 65. MR 3543240
- [EFMV16] Ellen Eischen, Jessica Fintzen, Elena Mantovan, and Ila Varma, Differential operators and families of automorphic forms on unitary groups of arbitrary signature, Submitted. http://arxiv.org/pdf/ 1511.06771.pdf.
- [EHLS16] Ellen Eischen, Michael Harris, Jian-Shu Li, and Christopher M. Skinner, p-adic L-functions for unitary groups, 135 pages. Submitted. http://arxiv.org/pdf/1602.01776.pdf.
- [Eis09] Ellen E. Eischen, p-adic differential operators on automorphic forms and applications, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2009, Thesis (Ph.D.)—University of Michigan. MR 2713895
- [Eis12] _____, p-adic differential operators on automorphic forms on unitary groups, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 62 (2012), no. 1, 177–243. MR 2986270
- [Eis14] Ellen Eischen, A p-adic Eisenstein measure for vector-weight automorphic forms, Algebra Number Theory 8 (2014), no. 10, 2433—2469. MR 3298545
- [Eis15] Ellen E. Eischen, A p-adic Eisenstein measure for unitary groups, J. Reine Angew. Math. 699 (2015), 111–142. MR 3305922
- [Eis16] Ellen Elizabeth Eischen, Differential operators, pullbacks, and families of automorphic forms on unitary groups, Ann. Math. Qué. 40 (2016), no. 1, 55–82. MR 3512523
- [EW16] Ellen Eischen and Xin Wan, p-adic Eisenstein series and L-functions of certain cusp forms on definite unitary groups, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 15 (2016), no. 3, 471–510. MR 3505656

- 50
- [Far08] Laurent Fargues, L'isomorphisme entre les tours de Lubin-Tate et de Drinfeld et applications cohomologiques, L'isomorphisme entre les tours de Lubin-Tate et de Drinfeld, Progr. Math., vol. 262, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2008, pp. 1–325. MR 2441312
- [FH91] William Fulton and Joe Harris, Representation theory. a first course, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 129, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991, Readings in Mathematics. MR MR1153249
- [Har81] Michael Harris, Special values of zeta functions attached to Siegel modular forms, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 14 (1981), no. 1, 77–120. MR MR618732 (82m:10046)
- [Hid91] Haruzo Hida, On p-adic L-functions of $GL(2) \times GL(2)$ over totally real fields, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 41 (1991), no. 2, 311–391. MR 1137290 (93b:11052)
- [Hid04] _____, p-adic automorphic forms on Shimura varieties, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2004. MR MR2055355 (2005e:11054)
- [Hid05] _____, p-adic automorphic forms on reductive groups, Astérisque (2005), no. 298, 147–254, Automorphic forms. I. MR MR2141703 (2006e:11060)
- [HLS06] Michael Harris, Jian-Shu Li, and Christopher M. Skinner, p-adic L-functions for unitary Shimura varieties. I. Construction of the Eisenstein measure, Doc. Math. (2006), no. Extra Vol., 393–464 (electronic). MR MR2290594 (2008d:11042)
- [Hop02] M. J. Hopkins, Algebraic topology and modular forms, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. I (Beijing, 2002) (Beijing), Higher Ed. Press, 2002, pp. 291–317. MR 1989190 (2004g:11032)
- [Hsi14] Ming-Lun Hsieh, Eisenstein congruence on unitary groups and Iwasawa main conjectures for CM fields, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 27 (2014), no. 3, 753–862. MR 3194494
- [Jan03] Jens Carsten Jantzen, Representations of algebraic groups, second ed., Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 107, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003. MR 2015057 (2004h:20061)
- [Kat70] Nicholas M. Katz, Nilpotent connections and the monodromy theorem: Applications of a result of Turrittin, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1970), no. 39, 175–232. MR 0291177 (45 #271)

- [Kat73] Nicholas Katz, Travaux de Dwork, Séminaire Bourbaki, 24ème année (1971/1972), Exp. No. 409, Springer, Berlin, 1973, pp. 167–200. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 317. MR MR0498577 (58 #16672)
- [Kat78] Nicholas M. Katz, p-adic L-functions for CM fields, Invent. Math. 49 (1978), no. 3, 199–297. MR MR513095 (80h:10039)
- [Kat81] _____, Serre-Tate local moduli, Algebraic Surfaces (Orsay, 1976–78), Springer, Berlin, 1981, pp. 138–202. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 868. MR MR0638600 (83k:14039b)
- [KO68] Nicholas M. Katz and Tadao Oda, On the differentiation of de Rham cohomology classes with respect to parameters, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 8 (1968), 199–213. MR 0237510 (38 #5792)
- [Kot92] Robert E. Kottwitz, Points on some Shimura varieties over finite fields, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 5 (1992), no. 2, 373–444. MR MR1124982 (93a:11053)
- [Lan13] Kai-Wen Lan, Arithmetic compactifications of PEL-type Shimura varieties, London Mathematical Society Monographs Series, vol. 36, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2013. MR 3186092
- [Lan14] _____, Compactifications of PEL-type Shimura varieties and Kuga families with ordinary loci, Preprint available at http://www.math.umn.edu/~kwlan/articles/cpt-ram-ord.pdf.
- [Lan16] _____, Higher Koecher's principle, Math. Res. Lett. 23 (2016), no. 1, 163–199.
- [Liu16] Zheng Liu, p-adic L-functions for ordinary families of symplectic groups, preliminary version. http://math.columbia.edu/%7Ezliu/Files/SLF.
- [Man58] Ju. I. Manin, Algebraic curves over fields with differentiation, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR. Ser. Mat. 22 (1958), 737–756. MR 0103889 (21 #2652)
- [Pan05] _____, The Maass-Shimura differential operators and congruences between arithmetical Siegel modular forms, Mosc. Math. J. 5 (2005), no. 4, 883–918, 973–974. MR 2266464
- [Ser73] Jean-Pierre Serre, Formes modulaires et fonctions zêta p-adiques, Modular functions of one variable, III (Proc. Internat. Summer School, Univ. Antwerp, 1972), Springer, Berlin, 1973, pp. 191–268. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 350. MR MR0404145 (53 #7949a)

- [Shi84] Goro Shimura, On differential operators attached to certain representations of classical groups, Invent. Math. 77 (1984), no. 3, 463–488. MR 759261 (86c:11034)
- [Shi97] ______, Euler products and Eisenstein series, CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, vol. 93, Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC, 1997. MR MR1450866 (98h:11057)
- [Shi00] _____, Arithmeticity in the theory of automorphic forms, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 82, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2000. MR 1780262 (2001k:11086)
- [SU14] Christopher Skinner and Eric Urban, *The Iwasawa main conjectures for* GL₂, Invent. Math. 195 (2014), no. 1, 1–277. MR 3148103
- [Wan15] Xin Wan, Families of nearly ordinary eisenstein series on unitary groups, Algebra and Number Theory (2015), With an appendix by Kai-Wen Lan. To appear. http://www.math.columbia.edu/~xw2295/families%20of% 20ordinary%20Eisenstein%20Series.pdf.

ELLEN EISCHEN
Department of Mathematics
University of Oregon
Fenton Hall
Eugene, OR 97403-1222
USA
eeischen@uoregon.edu

ELENA MANTOVAN
Department of Mathematics
Caltech
Pasadena, CA 91125
USA
mantovanelena@gmail.com

Jessica Fintzen
Department of Mathematics
University of Michigan
2074 East Hall
530 Church Street
Ann Arbor, MI 48109
USA
fintzen@umich.edu

ILA VARMA
Department of Mathematics
Columbia University
MC 4436, 2990 Broadway
New York, NY 10027
USA

ila@math.columbia.edu